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Competent Person Statement  

The information in this report relating to exploration results is based on information compiled by Patrick Hanna who is a fellow of 
the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is a consultant (through Hanna Consulting Services) to Cokal Limited and Tri 
Yoso who is a member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and a full time employee of Cokal Limited.  

Mr Hanna and Mr Yoso are qualified geologists and they have sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which they are undertaking, to qualify as Competent Persons as defined 
in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”.  

Mr Hanna and Mr Yoso consent to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on the information, in the form and context in 
which it appears. 
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Chairman’s Letter to Shareholders 
 
Dear Shareholders 

I take pride in presenting the Annual Report of Cokal on 
behalf of the Board of Directors and management of the 
company.  

During the company’s second year since it was reformed 
and refocused on developing into a globally significant 
player in the metallurgical coal sector, we have been 
busy implementing our strategy. Central Kalimantan’s 
unrealised metallurgical coal potential lies at the centre 
of our ambitions. While we continue to pursue 
opportunities in East Africa our main success and upside 
has been steadily unveiling itself in Indonesia. 

Even though prices for metallurgical coal have fallen 
recently they are still strong in both a historical context 
and relative to other commodities. The pull back in prices 
has largely been driven by a drop in demand for steel due 
to a reduction in what was incredibly high growth in the 
majority of the Asian economies. Fundamentally 
metallurgical coal remains a scarce commodity and a 
significant amount of the supply side, particularly old 
regions re-entering the seaborne traded market, are 
sensitive to lower prices. This view is evidenced by recent 
announcements of idling of capacity and deferring of new 
projects by some of the world’s biggest players. 

Cokal is developing projects in Indonesia which it believes 
will be highly competitive with the rest of the market 
both from a capital cost per annualised tonne of 
production and cash costs. We are encouraged by the 
ability to capitalise on the natural infrastructure provided 
by the Barito River and the ability to utilise efficient 
barging to eventually bring the product to market. The 
majority of other metallurgical projects have significant 
rail and port capital hurdles to overcome in order to 
make it into production, an important point of difference 
particularly during times of tightening capital availability. 

The company is in a relatively strong position with 
sufficient funds available to it following the completion of 
two private placements while capital markets were 
buoyant, prior to what has been a slow deterioration 
over the last financial year. The focus for capital raisings 
has been strong, ‘long only’ institutional investors with 
an eye to emerging market growth. 

A major achievement during the year was the 
announcement of the maiden JORC Resource at Cokal’s 
premier project Bumi Barito Mineral (BBM). Initially 60Mt 
of Inferred Resources, this has recently increased with 
addition of a new seam discovered to now become 77Mt 
Total Resources 7Mt Indicated and 70Mt Inferred being 
70% coking and 30% PCI. We have also provided 
guidance on the ultimate size potential of the project 
announcing an additional exploration target of 200 to 
350Mt down to a depth of 200m. 

After completing several studies to better understand the 
critical issues in bringing BBM into production a pre-
feasibility study was commenced. This study will provide 
high level capital and operating costs for the preferred 
project configuration and development methodology. It 

will also highlight options and areas to be studied in 
further detail as part of a definitive feasibility study. The 
results of the prefeasibility study are expected in the 
near future and we hope will underpin our aspirations for 
BBM to come into production as a low capital and low 
cash cost producer. 

We have continued to grow our team of enthusiastic 
qualified professionals. Additional roles have been 
recruited and filled mainly in areas crucial to establishing 
an operational project including mining, geology, 
engineering, approvals and community relations. The 
company has a strong preference to employing local 
technical professionals from Indonesia’s large coal 
industry, Indonesia overtook Australia* as the largest coal 
exporter in the world last year. We are building a 
corporate culture based on hard work, respect and 
personal responsibility. *World Coal Association’s Top Coal Exporters 
2011. 

We opened a corporate office in Jakarta during the year 
for mainly administrative and technical functions, and 
continued to improve our profile on the ground with the 
Indonesian regulators and decision makers. We have 
followed a philosophy based on strong community 
engagement and a belief that the economic 
opportunities project development brings should result 
real improvements of the social and economic well-being 
of the communities in which we co-exist. Our community 
and social responsibility program while in its early stages 
has seen strong attendance of our subsidised health 
clinics, the establishment of new school buildings and 
additional teachers at the nearby village, as well as the 
creation of a community based co-operative to supply 
many services in support of our exploration activities. 

During the year low level exploration has commenced at 
Borneo Bara Prima (BBP), Cokal’s IUP adjoining the BHP 
Billiton Maruwai project also in Murung Raya Regency, 
Central Kalimantan. This work has confirmed PCI coal 
quality from the limited outcrops tested to date. While 
more outcrops have been mapped and remain to be 
tested, planning and logistics will delay the work in these 
areas.   

Looking ahead we are focused on getting BBM into 
production as quickly and efficiently as possible in a 
manner which demonstrates the true potential of what is 
an underdeveloped significant metallurgical coal 
province. We look forward to your continued support in 
achieving our goals and are confident of delivering 
significant shareholder value when they are achieved. 

 

 

 

 
 

Peter Lynch 
Chairman 
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Left back – Teuku (Fin.Mngr), Vic Kuss (CFO), Jim Middleton (CEO), 
Pat Hanna (Director/Expl.Mngr) and our BBM Geology Team 

Review of Operations 
 

Corporate 
Additional Funding by Non-brokered Private Placements totalling $28.5M 

A General Meeting of Shareholders was held on 31st January, 2012.  All resolutions were passed in the affirmative resulting 
in: 
• Ratification of the previous issue of 17,000,000 shares and 8,500,000 options (@ $1.00 expiring on 15th May, 2013) to 

Passport Capital (and its related entities) for $8,500,000. 
• Ratification of the previous issue of 24,600,000 shares to Blackrock Investment Management (and its related entities) for 

$12,300,000. 
• Approval to issue 15,400,000 shares to Blackrock Investment Management (and its related entities) for $7,700,000.  

The Company is very pleased to have the continued support of Shareholders with a record of success such as Blackrock & 
Passport Capital, who have a reputation for long term growth orientated investments. 

These placements have provided resources to enable Cokal to deliver the planned exploration and development 
programmes during the year. 

Purchase of Additional Share of Coal Projects in Central Kalimantan 

As announced on 21 September 2011, the Company completed the purchase of an additional 10% of both the Bumi Barito 
Mineral (BBM) and Borneo Bara Prima (BBP) projects. The purchase of the additional equity will bring Cokal’s ownership of 
the two projects to 60%. 

Cokal has paid US$8,000,000 plus issued 
1,000,000 ordinary shares in Cokal Ltd 
(ASX:CKA). Under the terms of the transaction 
Cokal has purchased an additional 10% of the 
shares in the two PMA holding companies PT 
Bumi Barito Mineral and PT Borneo Bara 
Prima.  

The change in ownership and shareholdings 
has been recognised and formally registered 
with the Indonesian Investment Co-ordinating 
Board, or BKPM (Badan Koordinasi Penanaman 
Modal). 

Cokal has previously confirmed high quality 
premium metallurgical coal at its Bumi Barito 

Mineral (BBM) project in the Indonesia 
province of Central Kalimantan. 
 

BBM covers an area of 19,920 ha, immediately adjacent to BHPBilliton’s Juloi tenement, and straddles the Barito River. BBP 
covering an area of 13,050 ha is located adjacent to BHPBilliton’s Maruwai tenement. 

Co-Operation Agreement Signed with Mozambique Government Owned EMEM 

Cokal signed a “Co-operation Agreement” with Empresa Moçambicana de Exploração Mineira (EMEM-Mozambique Mining 
Exploration Company) to explore tenements in Mozambique for coal mining potential and jointly develop mines and 
associated facilities. 

EMEM is a state owned corporation formed by the Mozambique government in order to participate in mining projects, 
undertake exploration and mining development as well as promoting value addition to mineral products. The formation of 
EMEM followed recognition by the Mozambique Government that coal was pivotal to the country’s future economic 
development in the interest of all Mozambiquans.  

Mozambique is developing a major coking coal basin and is poised to become Africa’s major coking coal producer, and a 
major player in the world coking coal market.  Projects in this basin are being developed by international mining companies 
including Vale (Brazil), Riversdale (Rio Tinto), Revubue (Anglo American, Nippon Steel, Posco et al). 

Under the terms of this Agreement, EMEM will bring tenements to Cokal to review and if deemed suitable by Cokal, these 
tenements will be brought into the 80:20 (Cokal:EMEM) JV.   

No tenements have been deemed suitable for exploration at this stage.  Appropriate tenements continue to be sought by 
EMEM for the JV. 
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Peter Lynch  
Executive Chairman, Mining Engineer 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Previous President, CEO and Director of 
Waratah Coal, also General Manager Oaky 
North coal mine. 

James Middleton  
Managing Director/CEO, Mining Engineer 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Previous experience with Coal & Allied, 
Exxon, Glencore, Xstrata and BHP-Met Coal. 
 

Patrick Hanna  
Executive Director, Geologist 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Vast worldwide coal exploration experience. 

Domenic Martino  
Non-Executive Director  
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Experienced junior exploration company 
director and past CEO of Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu Ltd in Australia. 

Duncan Cornish 
Joint Company Secretary 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Capital raising, financial, secretarial and 
corporate experience for principally 
exploration companies on ASX, TSX and AIM. 

 

Victor Kuss 
Chief Financial Officer /  
Joint Company Secretary    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial commercial and corporate 
experience with major international and 
listed junior companies. 
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Inglewood Coal JV 

Dragon Energy Ltd (Dragon) did not complete their earning requirements for the Farm-In Joint Venture (‘Inglewood Coal JV’) 
and have no on-going rights or interest in the tenements.  Cokal retains 100% ownership of these tenements.  These 
tenements are based in the Surat / Clarence-Moreton and Bowen Basins in Queensland, Australia. 

During the year, three further EPC’s were granted (EPC 1650, EPC 1651 & EPC 1666).  The future of the Queensland 
tenements is being reviewed.  

Opening of Jakarta Office 

The Company opened an office in Jakarta in May 2012, to provide a high quality location to 
co-ordinate the Indonesian activities, and house the key Financial, Administrative and 
External Relations management and technical staff.  
This office will assist in developing our capabilities that are crucial to getting the BBM 
Project, and others, into production. 

Exploration - Indonesia 
Seven Indonesian Coal Exploration Projects 

The Company has acquired a share of the following projects: 
• 60% of the shares in companies which own the Bumi Barito Mineral (BBM) and Borneo Bara Prima (BBP) projects 

located in Central Province, Kalimantan, Indonesia. The BBM project area comprises approximately 19,920 hectares and 
the BBP project comprises approximately 13,050 hectares. 

• 75% of the shares in companies which own the Anugerah Alam Katingan (AAK) and Anugerah Alam Manuhing (AAM) 
projects also located in Central Province, Kalimantan, Indonesia. The AAK project area comprises 5,000 hectares and the 
AAM project comprises 10,000 hectares. 

• 75% of the shares in the company PT Silangkop Nusa Raya (SNR) which owns three exploration licences in West 
Kalimantan covering an area of approximately 13,000 hectares. 

BBM, BBP, AAK and AAM are within the highly prospective 
Central Kalimantan coking coal basin, with both BBP & BBM 
adjacent to BHP Billiton’s coking coal tenements.  SNR is in a 
highly prospective coking coal area in West Kalimantan, near 
the Malaysian border. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
  

Figure 2:   
Location of West Kalimantan Exploration Projects 

Figure 1:  Location of Central Kalimantan Exploration Projects 
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BBM Project  

BBM covers an area of 19,920 ha, immediately adjacent to BHPBilliton’s Juloi tenement, straddling the Barito River and has 
numerous outcrops of bright coal.  Another Cokal tenement, BBP, covering an area of 13,050 ha, is located adjacent to 
BHPBilliton’s Maruwai tenement. 

Highlights 
• The BBM project has a 77Mt Total Resource (70Mt Inferred Resource, 7Mt 

Indicated Resources – 70% coking coal and 30% PCI) 
• Additional 200Mt to 350Mt Exploration Target1 defined on BBM eastern block 
• Detailed surface mapping continues to uncover shallow coal throughout the 

tenement 
• Drilling continues to define further coal in areas of low strip ratio and with higher 

percentages of coking coal 

Cokal has previously confirmed a maiden Inferred 
Resource of 60Mt, in accordance with JORC, for the BBM 
Project. In June, Cokal added to this an Exploration 
Target1 of 200Mt to 350Mt in accordance with the JORC 
Code for the area covered by the Eastern Block of BBM 
(8,000 ha). 

Drilling continued to delineate further premium quality 
coking coal in the ‘J’ Seam at BBM. At the same time, 
Cokal’s exploration crews continuing to map the surface 
geology uncovering coal outcrops throughout the BBM 
tenement. 

The ‘J’ Seam is one of now thirteen seams which have 
been mapped on surface outcrops at the BBM project. 
The discovery of the ‘J’ Seam is of particular significance, 
all samples have returned Crucible Swell Numbers (CSN) 
of 9 or greater which is the maximum possible on the 

scale which is considered an important indicator of hard 
coking coal properties.  Additionally the ‘J’ Seam also 
exhibits the same low in-situ ash properties as were 
defined in the ‘B’, ‘C’ and ‘D’ Seams. This low in-situ ash 
means the coal is likely to be mined and direct shipped 
without the need for processing through a coal washery. 
This will save considerable capital and operating cost. 

EVENT SUBSEQUENT TO 30th JUNE A Resource of 10Mt 
Inferred and 7Mt Indicated in the premium coking coal ‘J’ 
seam was announced in August 2012.  The focus of 
exploration efforts at BBM continues to be on the ‘J’ 
Seam.  The ‘J’ seam Resource is 100% coking coal with 
the potential to direct ship. 

Coal quality at the BBM project ranges from premium 
coking coal to ultra-low volatile PCI, all with highly sought 
qualities. 

 
Table 1:  In-situ Average Coal Quality by Seam (B, C and D) and Product Type (% adb) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 2:  In-situ Coal Quality and Washed Product 'J' Seam (% adb) 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Seam Product Inherent  
Moisture Ash 

Volatile 
Matter 

Fixed  
Carbon 

Total  
Sulphur 

Calorific  
Value  

kcal/kg 
CSN Relative  

Density 
Phos- 

phorous 

D PCI 0.9 5.1 10.3 83.7 0.43 8,204 1.5 1.36 0.002 

D Coking 0.9 5.1 14.4 79.7 0.39 8,287 9.0 1.33 0.002 

C PCI 1.0 5.5 9.3 84.3 0.41 8,191 1.0 1.36 0.001 

C Coking 0.5 5.5 14.5 79.5 0.24 8,265 8.5 1.33 0.001 

B PCI 0.9 14.0 9.5 75.6 0.41 7,676 1.5 1.40 0.004 

B Coking 0.5 12.6 13.8 73.1 0.23 7,591 7.5 1.38 0.002 

Product Yield 
(%) 

Inherent  
Moisture Ash 

Volatile 
Matter 

Fixed  
Carbon 

Total  
Sulphur 

Calorific  
Value  

kcal/kg 
CSN Relative  

Density 
Phos- 

phorous 

Raw Coal 
 

0.8 
4.6-
14.3 

17.9 71.1 0.40 7,752 >9 1.35 0.003 

Washed Coal  
@ F1.60 

87.95 1.0 5.2 18.3 75.5 0.47 8,237 >9 
 

0.002 
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Table 3:  BBM JORC Resources by Category 
and Seam  

 

Table 4:  BBM JORC Resources by Category  
and Depth of Cover 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
BBP Project 

Two drilling rigs secured for BBP commenced drilling and 
core samples were sent to Australia for laboratory 
analysis. 

Initial results indicate some of the coal is suitable for the 
PCI and Anthracite markets.  

The drilling to date has tested only the outcrops in the 
southern part of the BBP project, another two locations 
of mapped outcrops are yet to be tested for coal quality 
attributes. 

AAK and AAM Projects 

Cokal has a 75% share of AAK and AAM projects also 
located in Central Kalimantan Province, Indonesia.  The 
AAK project area comprises 5,000 ha and the AAM 
project comprises 10,000 ha.   

Mapping and preliminary exploration work continued in 
AAM, during this financial year, to identify the coal 
potential within the tenement. 

SNR Project 

After completion of a technical Due Diligence, which 
involved a Cokal geological team conducting a 
preliminary surface mapping exercise, Cokal has 
completed the acquisition of 75.2% of PT Silangkop Nusa 
Raya (SNR), which holds three exploration licences in 
West Kalimantan near the Malaysian border (SNR 
Licences). The SNR Licences cover an area of 
approximately 13,000 ha (Figure 2).  

Local Indonesian partners will hold the balance of the 
equity in PT Silangkop Nusa Raya.   

Recent exploratory work for metallurgical coal in the area 
has been limited, although surface samples of coal from 
surrounding areas had shown good coking coal 
properties and there is a possibility of opening up a new 
area. 

The proposed acquisition has received Indonesian 
regulatory approval and SNR has been converted to a 
PMA Company. Under Indonesian law a PMA Company is 
able to have up to 100% foreign ownership. 

In addition to the above projects, Cokal remains active in 
evaluating other opportunities in Kalimantan. 

 

Exploration - Tanzania 
An initial drilling program has been completed in 
Tanzania, with seven boreholes drilled on the Manda 
Project (CKA earning 50%) and one borehole drilled on 
the adjoining Iwela lease (CKA earning 60%). The 
program included one fully cored borehole, two partially 
cored boreholes and four non-cored boreholes totalling 
1,596m of drilling in the Manda lease. A non-cored 
borehole was drilled in the adjoining Iwela lease. 

Drilling results from the Tanzanian tenements have not 
yielded any viable coal seams.  The drilling intersected 
Permian upper part of the Lower Karoo, typically 
mudstones, sandstones and carbonaceous mudstones 
with thin (less than 10-15cm) occasional coal bands. 
While inter-banded mudstone and coal has similarities to 
the target Karoo sequence in nearby Mozambique, the 
initial intersections do not indicate economic coal. 

A geological interpretation of strata from the borehole 
results is being used to identify drill sites with better 
prospectivity. The team has commenced mapping in 
other parts of Tanzania. The focus remains to identify the 
potential existence in Tanzania of the specific 
stratigraphic sequence which hosts the coking coals 
found in Mozambique’s Moatize Basin.   

Cokal and its joint venture partner, Tanzoz Resource 
Company Ltd (Tanzoz), completed an airborne 
geophysical survey of the Manda Project which included 
magnetic and radiometric survey together with a 
topographic survey. The data has been processed and the 
results are currently under study by structural geology 
specialists to determine the potential to delineate both 
Coal and Uranium in the Karoo sediments. 

Cokal continues to work in conjunction with Tanzoz to 
gain access into other parts of Tanzania for the purpose 
of conducting a coal exploration program.  The focus 
remains to identify the potential existence in Tanzania of 
the specific stratigraphic sequence which hosts the 
coking coals found in Mozambique’s Moatize Basin.   

 

 

 

Seam 
Seam 

Thickness 
(m) 

Indicated 
Resources 

(Mt) 

Inferred 
Resources 

(Mt) 

Total 
Resources 

(Mt) 

J 1.40 7.0 10.0 17.0 

D 1.30 
 

25.0 25.0 

C 1.06  20.0 20.0 

B 0.87  15.0 15.0 

Total  7.0 70.0 77.0 

Depth  
Range 

(m) 

Indicated 
Resources 

(Mt) 

Inferred 
Resources 

(Mt) 

Total 
Resources 

(Mt) 

0-50 4.0 8.0 12.0 

0-100 7.0 21.0 28.0 

0-150 7.0 33.0 40.0 

0-200 7.0 44.0 51.0 

0-300 7.0 70.0 77.0 
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Typical Indonesian Loading and Barge Facility 

Project Development - BBM 
Pre-Feasibility Study 

Since exploration activity begun on the project in March 
2011 the company has employed efforts on the future 
development of the project. These efforts have primarily 
focused on the areas considered to represent the biggest 
hurdles or risk to that goal being achieved. The location 
of the project means that its timely development will 
depend on obtaining the necessary approvals and 
defining a suitably efficient and cost effective logistics 
chain. 

The company’s efforts on the key focus areas of logistics 
and approvals are well advanced, with positive results 
allowing the commencement of a formal pre-feasibility 
study. The pre-feasibility study will pull together all the 
work to date and include additional studies to provide a 
succinct holistic approach to the project development 
options, costings and schedule. The pre-feasibility study 
is being undertaken by internationally recognised 
consultants and Indonesian providers with experience in 
the development of similar Indonesian coal export 
projects. 

The target date for completion is during Q4 2012. Specific 
work underway includes:  

a) Logistics Studies 

The key results from a Barge Scoping Study announced in 
February, 2012 are: 
• Barging has high potential from the Upper Barito 

River to shiploading  
• Barging able to provide internationally competitive 

logistics solution  
• Initial channel survey of Upper Barito River 

completed  
• Options identified to improve efficiency and 

operating days compared with current methodologies  
• Further detailed studies have been initiated. 

As a direct result of this Scoping Study, a Bathymetric 
Survey of the Barito River was commissioned and 
identification of ideal barge loading positions has 
commenced.  The bathymetric survey has been 
completed and analysis of the data has commenced.  This 
will define the river bottom profile, to allow for detailed 
analysis of the design of equipment, river capacity at 
various points and the effect of seasonal variations on 
the logistics chain. 

The Pre-Feasibility Study on the barging has been 
initiated, as well as preliminary discussions with relevant 
barging companies. 

Additionally, initial study work on potential road routes 
to connect the BBM Project to identified Barge Loading 
Sites has commenced.  The initial information will be 
used to narrow down options and allow more detailed 
study work to be undertaken. 

b) Mining Studies 

A number of studies designed to gather key data on the 
mining and logistics environment for BBM have been 
completed or commenced recently, such as:  

• Bathymetric Survey as discussed above  
• Initial work on potential road routes and barge 

loading sites  
• Extensive Aerial topographical survey (LIDAR) work 

which when combined with field mapping, drilling 
and other exploration work will enable preliminary 
work to begin on potential pit and site design options  

• Preliminary information has been gathered from 
similar mining operations, consultants and mining 
contractors in order to progress capital and operating 
cost estimates for mine planning 

• The Company has commenced the Pre-Feasibility 
Study on BBM. 

The company’s concept plan and objectives for BBM have 
been discussed with a number of relevant independent 
consultants as a basis for a Pre-Feasibility Studies. To this 
extent the company has already engaged several 
consultants and appointed lead consultants for the Pre-
feasibility. The study work is expected to be finalised in 
the Q4 2012.  

The new information available on the ‘J’ seam has 
enabled assessment of the potential to direct ship some 
of this coal, and use relatively simple beneficiation 
processes to remove any extraneous material. This will 
be investigated further as part of the Pre-Feasibility 
Study. 

c) Ports 

Cokal is in the final stages of identifying the initial 
laydown and accommodation area for the BBM Project. 

Detailed land mapping has been completed and a survey 
of land ownership is currently being finalised for the 
area.  Cokal expects construction of the laydown area to 
start in Q4 2012. 

Cokal has completed initial land mapping for two barge 
loading facilities, a river port near BBM and another  area 
which could be utilised by the BBP project and other 
projects in that area. Detailed land mapping is in progress 
at the river port near BBM and is expected to be 
completed in Q3 2012.  Government and community 
consultation in the area has indicated that the local 
community is highly supportive of the establishment of 
the facilities at Cokal’s preferred location.   

Cokal is on track to commence detailed land mapping 
and community consultation for the BBP local barge 
loading river port in Q4 2012. 
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External Relations 
BBM  and  BBP  Accepted  on  Indonesia’s  Central 
Government ‘Clean & Clear’ List 

During  May,  2012,  both  BBM  and  BBP  Projects  were 
accepted on the Ministry of Energy & Mineral Resources 
‘Clean & Clear’ List.   

The  designation  as  ‘Clean  &  Clear’  is  the  Central 
Government  confirmation  that  the  Projects  are  valid, 
there are no overlapping or conflicting concessions, and 
that all obligations have so far been met.   This is a timely 
step  in our progress to taking our projects  into the next 
stage of development.   Central  government  recognition 
of  the  status  of  the  Projects  also  lowers  the  risk  of 
potential problems with the mining concessions.  

BBM Production Approval Advances ‐ Update 

Cokal  is  expecting  the  AMDAL  (Environmental  Impact 
Statement),  to  be  submitted  to  the  Indonesian 
Government for approval in Q4 2012.   

To assist with  the preparation of  the AMDAL, Cokal has 
engaged global Engineering and Environmental Company 
CDM Smith, together with local Indonesian companies PT 
Karsa  Buana  Lestari  and  PT  Ciriajasa  Rancangbengun 
Mandiri  to  provide  engineering  and  environmental 
impact assessment support.  Cokal has also continued to 
utilise  the  services  of  the University  of  Palangkaraya  to 
provide local support to CDM Smith. 

Cokal has completed the community consultation aspects 
of  the  AMDAL,  having  held  public meetings  that  were 
well  represented  by  local  and  provincial  Government 
Departments,  cultural  leaders  and  the  general  public.  
The project  is receiving widespread support  from within 
the Government and community.   The  fieldwork started 
in 2011 as part of the AMDAL submission has progressed 
without delay and is on track to be completed in early in 
Q4 2012.   

Cokal  expects  to  submit  its  application  in  Q4  2012  to 
have  the  Izin  Usaha  Pertambangan  Eksplorasi 
(Exploration  IUP) upgraded  to  Izin Usaha Pertambangan 
Operasi / Produksi (Operation / Production IUP).   

Infrastructure  Development  Agreements  to  Facilitate 
Production 

Two  Legal  Memorandums  of  Agreement  (MoAs)  have 
been  signed  to  further  detail  the  arrangements  initially 
outlined in the two MoUs signed in March 2012 for: 
(a) Development  of  River  Ports  for  Coal  Transport  on 

the  Barito  River.    This  MoU  allows  for  a  Joint 
Venture  with  the  local  regency  to  develop  coal 
barge  loading  facilities  to  service  the BBM project 
and other future Cokal projects in Murung Raya. 

(b) Study and Development of coal fired Power Stations 
in  Murung  Raya  regency.    This  MoU  is  for  the 
potential development of two small scale coal‐fired 
power stations (5‐10MW) in the regency. This could 
service  the  needs  of  proposed  Cokal mines  in  the 
area,  as  well  as  providing  benefits  
to the local community. 

The MoUs  and  the  corresponding Agreements,  are part 
of  expediting  planned  metallurgical  coal  production  in 

this  high  quality  coal  basin,  while  providing  significant 
benefits to the local community. 

The  Regency  Government’s  Development  Corporation 
would  be  a  joint  venture  partner  with  Cokal,  and  is 
committed  to  provide  assistance  for  this  infrastructure 
development.  

This  co‐operation  and  assistance will  help  us  to  quickly 
move  into  the  production  phase.  The  Regency 
Government is enthusiastic about the mine development 
as  it brings  jobs, education and prosperity to the region. 
Cokal  has  committed  to  a  high  level  of  community 
engagement  through  an  effective  community  social 
responsibility  program  focused  on  education  and 
training,  employment  and  local  infrastructure 
development. 

Community Development (CSR) 

Cokal  has  commenced  the  implementation  of  its 
Corporate Social Responsibility program.   To date Cokal 
has undertaken the following programmes: 

 Assisted  the Tumbang Tuan primary  school with  the 
provision of materials and  labour  to make  repairs  to 
the local school; 

 Provided medical support to the community through 
arranging an ophthalmologist  to  run a  free clinic  for 
the  local  community.    The  clinic was well  attended 
with  an  estimated  140  locals  visiting  to  have  their 
eyes screened. 

 Helped organise a village Co‐operative business  (the 
first of  its kind  in  this area) which  is employing  local 
people to assist Cokal with  logistics for food, general 
supplies and field work. 

 Provided an emergency generator as part of a project 
to ensure reliable electricity for the local school.  

Cokal  has  now  commenced  assessment  of  further 
community projects. 

 

Subsequent to 30th June, Cokal has committed to fund 
teachers to allow a Junior High School to be opened in 
Tumbang Tuan village.  Initial indications are that this 
first of a kind initiative has attracted at least 25 students 
to continue studies who would have otherwise finished 
their education at primary school level. 

Note 1: Exploration Target:  
All statements as to Exploration Targets of Cokal Limited and statements as to 
potential quality and grade are conceptual in nature. There has been insufficient 
exploration undertaken to date to define a Coal Resource and identification of a 
Resource will be totally dependent on the outcome of further exploration. Any 
statement contained in this document as to exploration results or Exploration 
Targets has been made consistent with the requirements of the Australasian code 
for reporting of Exploration results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (“JORC 
Code”). 
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Directors' Report  
 
Your directors present their report for the year ended 30 
June 2012. 

The following persons were directors of Cokal Limited 
during the financial year and up to the date of this report, 
unless otherwise stated:   

Peter Lynch, Executive Chairman 
B.Eng (Mining) 
Since graduating with a Mining Engineering degree in 
1988, Mr Lynch has held various positions, within the 
coal industry in Australia, as mining engineer, project 
manager, mine manager, general manager and managing 
director culminating most recently in the role, from 
January 2006 until January 2010, as the President, CEO 
and Director of Waratah Coal Inc., a TSX listed company 
which was taken over by the Mineralogy Group in 
December 2008, having reached a peak market 
capitalisation of CAD300 million.  Other highlights 
include: 
• Mining Engineer, 48, over 25 years’ experience mainly 

in coal 
• Proven track record in coal project evaluation, 

development and operation 
• Responsible for design and construction of one of 

Australia’s best producing longwall projects, Oaky 
North 

• Ex-CEO of Waratah Coal responsible for putting the 
Galilee basin on the map, visionary development plan 

• Ex-MD APC, MacArthur Coal operating entity 
expanded to 6Mtpa 

• Strong following in Nth American Capital Markets, 
WCI.TSX-V. 

Peter is a member of the Audit Committee. 

During the past three years Peter has also served as a 
Director of the ASX listed company, Waratah Coal Inc. 
(from 7 December 2006 to 22 December 2008) (ASX 
listed from 10 November 2008 to 13 January 2009) 

Pat Hanna, Executive Director  
B. Applied Science (Geology), CP, FAusIMM 
Mr Hanna has over 30 years’ experience as a coal 
geologist in the areas of exploration and evaluation 
including planning, budgeting and managing drilling 
programmes in Australia and Indonesia, gained since 
graduating from the University of New South Wales in 
1976. Mr Hanna has authored and co-authored 
numerous coal industry publications. 
• Geologist, 59, over 30 years’ experience all in coal 
• Extensive experience in Indonesian coal 
• Exploration Manager for Riversdale Mining, principal 

responsibility for discovery and documentation of 
new coking coal basin in Mozambique 

• Ex-member of JORC committee 
• Principal Geologist SRK Australia 6 yrs 
• Author of 19 technical publications 
• Reviewed and consulted on over 40 coal projects 

globally 
• Highly experienced and respected. 

Pat is a member of the Audit Committee. 

Jim Middleton, Managing Director  
        and Chief Executive Officer  
BE (Mining-Hons) 
Mr Middleton has since 1981 held various positions, 
technical, operational, exploration and corporate in the 
coal industry in Australia including time with Coal Allied, 
Exxon, Glencore, Xstrata culminating most recently as 
Vice President-Mining Operations, IIlawarra Coal owned 
by BHP Billiton.  
• Mining Engineer, 48, over 30 years all coal mining 

experience 
• Highly successful career with the majors, BHPB, 

Xstrata, Glencore, Exxon Coal, Coal & Allied 
• Designed and built Xstrata’s highest ROI United 

Longwall Project, 12 month payback 
• Part of gathering first assets for Glencore to form the 

basis of Xstrata float 
• Head of operations for BHPB Illawarra Coal 8Mtpa, 

three mine, coking coal project 
• Success in strategy, exploration, project delivery and 

operations 
• Reputation for low cost, high production and 

innovation.  

Domenic Martino, Non-Executive Director  
B. Bus, FCPA 
Mr Martino is a Chartered Accountant and an 
experienced director of ASX listed companies. Previously 
CEO of Deloitte Touch Tohmatsu in Australia, he has 
significant experience in the development of "micro-cap" 
companies.  
• Former CEO Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Australia 
• Key player in the re-birth of a broad grouping of ASX 

companies including Sydney Gas, Pan Asia, Clean 
Global Energy, NuEnergy Capital 

• Strong reputation in China and HKSE Clive Palmer’s 
Resourcehouse Ltd, ARH 

• Lengthy track record of operating in Indonesia, 
successfully closed key energy and resources deals 
with key local players 

• Proven track record in capital raisings across a range 
of markets. 

During the past three years Domenic has also served as a 
Director of the following ASX listed companies: 
• Pan Asia Corporation Limited * (since 24 December 

2010) 
• Synergy Plus Limited * (since 7 July 2006) 
• Australasian Resources Limited * (since 27 November 

2003) 
• Clean Global Energy Limited * (since 9 October 2009) 

* denotes current directorship 

Domenic is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 

Duncan Cornish, Joint Company Secretary 
B.Bus (Accounting), CA 
Duncan is an accomplished and highly regarded 
corporate administrator and manager. He has many 
years experience in pivotal management roles in capital 
raisings and stock exchange listings for numerous 
companies on the ASX, AIM Market of the London Stock 
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Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange. Highly skilled 
in the areas of company financial reporting, company 
regulatory, secretarial and governance areas, business 
acquisition and disposal due diligence, he has worked 
with Ernst & Young and PricewaterhouseCoopers both in 
Australia and the UK.  

Duncan is currently Company Secretary and CFO of other 
listed companies on the ASX and TSX-V where he has 
assisted in their listing and capital raising. He is 
supported by a small experienced team of accountants 
and administrators. 

Victor Kuss, CFO and Joint Company Secretary 
BComm, CA 
Victor Kuss is an experienced CFO with significant 
exposure to listed resources companies and has a strong 
track record in the successful growth and development of 
resources and resource related companies.  

Mr Kuss has significant experience in M&A activities and 
capital raising. He has also worked extensively in a 
number of overseas mining and resources related 
operations. Mr Kuss is a Chartered Accountant and has a 
Masters in Economics. 

Interests in Shares and Options 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors 
in the shares and options of Cokal Limited are shown in 
the table below: 
 

 Ordinary 
Shares 

Unlisted 
Options 
$0.30 @ 

30/9/12* 

Unlisted 
Options 
$0.50 @ 

29/12/14* 

Unlisted 
Options 
$0.75 @ 

29/12/14* 

Peter Lynch 55,085,000 5,500,000 - - 

Jim 
Middleton 10,017,000 1,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 

Pat Hanna 25,000,000 2,500,000 - - 

Domenic 
Martino 37,120,001 3,500,000 - - 

* expiry dates of the options 

 

Principal Activities 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during 
the financial year were focused on the identification and 
development of coal within the highly prospective 
Central Kalimantan coking coal basin in Indonesia and to 
explore for coal in Tanzania with joint venture partner 
Tanzoz Resources. 

The consolidated entity also announced that it had 
signed a ‘Co-operation Agreement’ with Empresa 
Moçambicana de Exploração Mineira (EMEM-
Mozambique Mining Exploration Company) to explore 
tenements in Mozambique for coal mining potential and 
jointly develop mines and associated facilities. 

Operating Results 
For the year ended 30 June 2012, the loss for the 
consolidated entity after providing for income tax was 
$6,315,217 (2011: $2,643,913). 

 

Dividends Paid or Recommended 
There were no dividends paid or recommended during 
the financial year. 

Review of Operations 
Detailed comments on operations and exploration 
programs up to the date of this report are included 
separately in the Annual Report under Review of 
Operations. 

Review of Financial Condition 
Capital Structure 

On 13 July 2011, the consolidated entity announced that 
it had signed a ‘Co-operation Agreement’ with Empresa 
Moçambicana de Exploração Mineira (EMEM-
Mozambique Mining Exploration Company) to explore 
tenements in Mozambique for coal mining potential and 
jointly develop mines and associated facilities. 

On 21 September 2011, the consolidated entity 
completed the purchase of additional 10% of shares for 
the PT. Bumi Barito Mineral and PT. Borneo Bara Prima 
projects. Now it holds 60% ownership.  

During the year ended 30 June 2012, 14,301,157 ordinary 
shares were issued on exercise of options at prices 
varying between $0.10 and $0.30 each. In addition, 
58,160,000 shares were issued during the year.  

At 30 June 2012, the consolidated entity had 411,046,892 
ordinary shares and 50,055,000 unlisted options on issue.  

There have been no other events since 30 June 2012 that 
impact upon the financial report as at 30 June 2012. 

Financial Position 

The net assets of the consolidated entity have increased 
by $26,777,430 from $36,224,686 at 30 June 2011 to 
$63,002,116 at 30 June 2012.  This increase has largely 
resulted from the following factors: 
• Successfully raising capital; 
• Increasing the consolidated entity’s (capitalised) 

exploration expenditure, partly offset by; 
• Operating losses. 

The consolidated entity’s working capital, being current 
assets less current liabilities has increased from 
$9,146,310 in 2011 to $28,944,773 in 2012.  

During the past year the consolidated entity has invested 
in the identification and development of coal within the 
Central Kalimantan coking coal basin in Indonesia and in 
a joint venture to explore for coal in Tanzania with 
Tanzoz Resources. 

Treasury Policy 

The consolidated entity does not have a formally 
established treasury function.  The Board is responsible 
for managing the consolidated entity’s finance facilities.   

Some goods and services purchased by the consolidated 
entity, along with the payments made to the vendors of 
the Kalimantan coal projects, are in foreign currencies 
(US dollars or Indonesian Rupiah). 

The consolidated entity does not currently undertake 
hedging of any kind. 
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Liquidity and Funding 

The consolidated entity has sufficient funds to finance its 
operations and exploration activities, and to allow the 
consolidated entity to take advantage of favourable 
business opportunities, not specifically budgeted for, or 
to fund unforeseen expenditure. 

Significant Changes in the State 
of Affairs 
Capital Raising 

On 23 November 2011, a private placement to 
institutional investors of 17,000,000 ordinary shares at a 
price of $0.50 and 8,500,000 options at a price of $1.00 
was completed. 

On 15 December 2011, a private placement to 
institutional investors of 24,600,000 ordinary shares at a 
price of $0.50 was completed. 

On 6 February 2012, a private placement to institutional 
investors of 15,400,000 ordinary shares at a price of 
$0.50 was completed.  

Options Exercised 

During the year ended 30 June 2012, 14,301,157 ordinary 
shares were issued on exercise of options at prices 
varying between $0.10 and $0.30 each. 

Significant Events after the 
Reporting Date 
There have been no significant events since 30 June 2012 
that require adjustments or disclosure in the financial 
report as at 30 June 2012. 

Future Developments, Prospects 
and Business Strategies 
Likely developments in the operations of the 
consolidated entity and the expected results of those 
operations in subsequent financial years have been 
discussed where appropriate in the Annual Report under 
Review of Operations. 

There are no further developments of which the 
Directors are aware which could be expected to affect 
the results of the consolidated entity’s operations in 
subsequent financial years other than information which 
the Directors believe comment on or disclosure of, would 
prejudice the interests of the consolidated entity.  

Environmental Issues 
The consolidated entity is subject to environmental 
regulation in relation to its exploration activities.  There 
are no matters that have arisen in relation to 
environmental issues up to the date of this report.  

Non-Audit Services 
The following non-audit services were provided by the 
Cokal’s auditor, Ernst & Young. The Directors are satisfied 
that the provision of non-audit services is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The nature and 

scope of each type of non-audit service provided means 
that auditor independence was not compromised. 

Ernst & Young received the following amounts for the 
provision of non-audit services: 

 2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Assurance related agreed upon 
services 7,500 - 

Tax compliance services - 15,000 

 7,500 15,000 

 

Remuneration Report (Audited)  
This remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 
2012 outlines the remuneration arrangements of the 
Company and the Group in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act) and 
its regulations. This information has been audited as 
required by section 308(3C) of the Act. 

The remuneration report details the remuneration 
arrangements for key management personnel (KMP) who 
are defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, 
including any director (whether executive or otherwise) 
of the parent company.  

For the purposes of this report, the term “executive” 
includes the Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO), directors and other senior management 
executives of the Group included in this report.  

Remuneration Policy 

The performance of the consolidated entity depends 
upon the quality of its directors and executives.  To 
prosper, the consolidated entity must attract, motivate 
and retain highly skilled directors and executives. 

The Board does not presently have Remuneration and 
Nomination Committees.  The directors consider that the 
consolidated entity is not of a size, nor are its affairs of 
such complexity, as to justify the formation of any other 
special or separate committees at this time.  All matters 
which might be dealt with by such committees are 
reviewed by the directors meeting as a Board.   

The Board, in carrying out the functions of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees, is 
responsible for reviewing and negotiating the 
compensation arrangements of senior executives and 
consultants. 

The Board, in carrying out the functions of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees, assess the 
appropriateness of the nature and amount of 
remuneration of such officers on a periodic basis by 
reference to relevant employment market conditions 
with the overall objective of ensuring maximum 
stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality 
Board and executive team. Such officers are given the 
opportunity to receive their base remuneration in a 
variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits. It is 
intended that the manner of payments chosen will be 
optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for 
the consolidated entity.  
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The consolidated entity aims to reward the Executive 
Directors and senior management with a level and mix of 
remuneration commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the consolidated entity.  The 
Board’s policy is to align director and executive objectives 
with shareholder and business objectives by providing a 
fixed remuneration component and offering short and/or 
long-term incentives as appropriate. 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, 
the structure of non-executive directors, Executive 
Directors and senior management remuneration is 
separate and distinct. 

Non-executive Director Remuneration 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level 
which provides the consolidated entity with the ability to 
attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst 
incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. 

The Constitution of Cokal Limited and the ASX Listing 
Rules specify that the non-executive directors are 
entitled to remuneration as determined by the 
consolidated entity in a general meeting to be 
apportioned among them in such manner as the 
Directors agree and, in default of agreement, equally. 
The aggregate remuneration currently determined by 
Cokal Limited is $500,000 per annum. Additionally, non-
executive directors will be entitled to be reimbursed for 
properly incurred expenses. 

If a non-executive director performs extra services, which 
in the opinion of the directors are outside the scope of 
the ordinary duties of the director, the consolidated 
entity may remunerate that director by payment of a 
fixed sum determined by the directors in addition to or 
instead of the remuneration referred to above.  
However, no payment can be made if the effect would be 
to exceed the maximum aggregate amount payable to 
non-executive directors.  A non-executive director is 
entitled to be paid travel and other expenses properly 
incurred by them in attending directors’ or general 
meetings of Cokal Limited or otherwise in connection 
with the business of the consolidated entity. 

The remuneration of the sole non-executive director for 
the year ending 30 June 2012 is detailed in this 
Remuneration Report. 

Executive Director and Senior Management 
Remuneration 

The consolidated entity aims to reward the Executive 
Directors and senior management with a level and mix of 
remuneration commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the consolidated entity and so as 
to: 
• reward Executives for consolidated entity and 

individual performance; 
• align the interests of executives with those of 

shareholders; 
• link reward with the strategic goals and performance 

of the consolidated entity; and 
• ensure total remuneration is competitive by market 

standards. 

 

The remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior 
management may from time to time be fixed by the 
Board.  As noted above, the Board’s policy is to align the 
Executive Directors and senior management objectives 
with shareholder and business objectives by providing a 
fixed remuneration component and offering short and/or 
long-term incentives as appropriate. 

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a 
base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to 
the position and is competitive in the market.  Short-term 
incentives may be provided in the form of performance 
bonuses.  Fixed remuneration and short-term incentives 
are reviewed annually by the Board, in carrying out the 
functions of the Remuneration Committee, and the 
process consists of a review of Company-wide and 
individual performance, relevant comparative 
remuneration in the market and internal, and where 
appropriate, external advice on policies and practices.   

Senior management are given the opportunity to receive 
their fixed remuneration in a variety of forms including 
cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and 
expense payment plans.  It is intended that the manner 
of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient 
without creating undue cost for the consolidated entity. 

Long-term incentives are provided in the form of options 
and/or the issue of shares following the completion of 
satisfactory time periods of service.  The consolidated 
entity uses employee continuity of service and the future 
share price to align comparative shareholder return and 
reward for executives. 

The remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior 
management for the year ending 30 June 2012 is detailed 
in this Remuneration Report. 

Relationship between Remuneration and Consolidated 
Entity Performance 

During the financial year, the consolidated entity has 
generated losses as its principal activity was exploration 
for coal within the Central Kalimantan coking coal basin 
in Indonesia and in Tanzania via a joint venture with 
Tanzoz Resources. 

The following table shows the share price at the end of 
the financial year for the consolidated entity for the last 4 
years: 

Year-end  
(30 June) 

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

2009 
$ 

Share price 0.21 0.75 0.18 0.04 

Basic loss per 
share (1.68) (1.39) (2.67) (3.25) 

 

There were no dividends paid during the year ended 30 
June 2012. 

As the consolidated entity is still in the exploration and 
development stage, the link between remuneration, 
consolidated entity performance and shareholder wealth 
is tenuous.  Share prices are subject to the influence of 
coal prices and market sentiment toward the sector, and 
as such increases or decreases may occur quite 
independent of executive performance or remuneration. 
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Employment and Services Agreements  

It is the Board’s policy that employment and/or services 
agreements are entered into with all Executive Directors, 
Executives and employees.  

Agreements do not provide for pre-determining 
compensation values or method of payment.  Rather the 
amount of compensation is determined by the Board in 
accordance with the remuneration policy set out above. 

Key management personnel are entitled to their 
statutory entitlements of accrued annual leave and long 
service leave together with any superannuation on 
termination.  No other termination payments are 
payable. 

Executive Chairman 

Cokal Limited has a services agreement with Petla Trust 
and Peter Lynch, the Executive Chairman.  The 
Agreement commenced on 24 December 2010.  Under 
the terms and conditions of the agreement, Petla Trust 
has agreed to provide certain corporate management 
and other services to the consolidated entity. 
Additionally, Peter Lynch has agreed to act as the 
Executive Chairman of Cokal Limited. 

Petla Trust will receive a base fee for provision of the 
services of $210,000 per annum (exclusive of GST) on the 
basis of a minimum of 50% of Peter’s time.  The 
consolidated entity is also obliged to reimburse Petla 
Trust for all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred 
by Petla Trust in providing services pursuant to the 
agreement.   

Both Cokal Limited and Petla Trust are entitled to 
terminate the agreement upon giving not less than three 
month’s written notice. In the event that Petla Trust is in 
breach of the agreement, Cokal Limited may terminate 
the agreement immediately on written notice. In 
addition, Cokal Limited is entitled to terminate the 
agreement upon the happening of various events in 
respect of Petla Trust’s solvency or other conduct of Petla 
Trust or Peter Lynch. 

Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer 

Cokal Limited has an employment agreement with Jim 
Middleton, for the position of Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer which commenced on 24 
December 2010.  Mr Middleton received an annual base 
salary of $400,000, exclusive of compulsory 
superannuation contributions. 

Mr Middleton is eligible for an annual performance 
bonus of up to 50% of his annual base salary, based on 
the discretion of the Board as the Company is an early 
stage exploration entity. 

The employment agreement may be terminated at any 
time by the Company for Cause, being serious 
misconduct or the happening of various events in respect 
of Mr Middleton’s conduct. 

The Company may terminate the employment 
agreement without Cause or for permanent disability by 
giving six months’ notice to Mr Middleton. In these 
circumstances Mr Middleton will receive 12 months 
annual base salary. 

Mr Middleton may terminate the employment 
agreement by providing the Company with three months’ 
notice. 

If, within six months of a change of control event, Mr 
Middleton terminates the employment agreement, he 
will receive 12 months annual base salary. 

Executive Director 

Cokal Limited has a services agreement with Hanna 
Consulting Services Pty Ltd and Pat Hanna, Executive 
Director.  The Agreement commenced on 24 December 
2010.  Under the terms and conditions of the agreement, 
Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd has agreed to provide 
certain executive and geological management and other 
services to the consolidated entity. Additionally, Pat 
Hanna has agreed to act as the Executive Director of 
Cokal Limited. 

Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd will receive a base fee 
for provision of the services of $240,000 per annum 
(exclusive of GST) for a minimum of ten days service per 
month. Additional fees of $2,000 per day will be paid for 
additional services performed greater than ten days per 
month.  The consolidated entity is also obliged to 
reimburse Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd for all 
reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by Hanna 
Consulting Services Pty Ltd in providing services pursuant 
to the agreement.   

Both Cokal Limited and Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd 
are entitled to terminate the agreement upon giving not 
less than three month’s written notice. In the event that 
Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd is in breach of the 
agreement, Cokal Limited may terminate the agreement 
immediately on written notice. In addition, Cokal Limited 
is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the 
happening of various events in respect of Hanna 
Consulting Services Pty Ltd’s solvency or other conduct of 
Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd or Pat Hanna. 

Senior Management 
CFO / Joint Company Secretary  
Cokal Limited has an employment agreement with Victor 
Kuss, for the position of Chief Financial Officer 
commenced on 5th September 2011. He was further 
made Joint Company Secretary on the 14th May 2012.  Mr 
Kuss receives an annual base salary of $275,000, 
exclusive of compulsory superannuation contributions. 

Mr Kuss is eligible for an annual performance bonus of up 
to $100,000, based on the discretion of the Managing 
Director as the Company is an early stage exploration 
entity. 

The employment agreement may be terminated at any 
time by the Company for Cause, being serious 
misconduct or the happening of various events in respect 
of Mr Kuss’s conduct. 

The Company may terminate the employment 
agreement without Cause or for permanent disability by 
giving three months’ notice to Mr Kuss. In these 
circumstances Mr Kuss will receive three months annual 
base salary. 

Mr Kuss may terminate the employment agreement by 
providing the Company with three months’ notice. 
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Under the terms of the employment agreement, during 
the year ended 30 June 2012, Mr Kuss was granted 
5,000,000 unlisted options, expiring 5 September 2015, 
exercisable as follows: 
• 3,000,000 at $1.10 (vesting 5 September 2012) 
• 2,000,000 at $1.50 (vesting 5 September 2012) 

Joint Company Secretary 
Cokal Limited has a services agreement with Corporate 
Administration Services Pty Ltd (CAS) and Duncan 
Cornish, the Joint Company Secretary.  The agreement 
commenced on 1 December 2011.  Under the terms and 
conditions of the agreement, CAS has agreed to provide 
certain corporate secretarial, administration and other 
services to Cokal Limited.  Additionally, Mr Cornish has 
agreed to act as the secretary of Cokal Limited. 

CAS receives a base fee for provision of the services of 
$40,000 (exclusive of GST). If at the request of the 
consolidated entity, CAS or Mr Cornish provides 
additional services to the consolidated entity, CAS shall 
be paid additional remuneration at an hourly rate. The 
consolidated entity is also obliged to reimburse CAS for 
all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by CAS in 
providing services pursuant to the Agreement. 

Both Cokal Limited and CAS are entitled to terminate the 
agreement upon giving not less than one month’s written 
notice. In the event that a party is in breach of the 
agreement either party may terminate the Agreement 
immediately on written notice. In addition, Cokal Limited 
is entitled to terminate the agreement upon the 
happening of various events in respect of CAS’ solvency 
or other conduct of CAS or Mr Cornish. CAS is also 
entitled to terminate the agreement upon the happening 
of various events in respect of Cokal Limited’s solvency. 

Exploration & Resource Manager  
Cokal Limited has an employment agreement with Chris 
Turvey, for the position of Exploration & Resource 
Manager which commenced on 24 December 2010.  Mr 
Turvey receives an annual base salary of $250,000, 
exclusive of compulsory superannuation contributions. 

Mr Turvey is eligible for an annual performance bonus of 
up to 50% of his annual base salary, based on 
performance milestones to be agreed annually by the 
Managing Director. 

The employment agreement may be terminated at any 
time by the Company for Cause, being serious 

misconduct or the happening of various events in respect 
of Mr Turvey’s conduct. 

The Company may terminate the employment 
agreement without Cause or for permanent disability by 
giving six months’ notice to Mr Turvey. In these 
circumstances Mr Turvey will receive six months annual 
base salary. 

Mr Turvey may terminate the employment agreement by 
providing the Company with three months’ notice. 

If, within six months of a change of control event, Mr 
Turvey terminates the employment agreement, he will 
receive 12 months annual base salary. 

(a) Details of Management Personnel 
(i) Directors 
 Peter Lynch, Executive Chairman  

(appointed 24 December 2010) 

 Jim Middleton, Managing Director & Chief 
Executive Officer (appointed 24 December 
2010) 

 Pat Hanna, Executive Director  
(appointed 24 December 2010) 

 Domenic Martino, Non-Executive Director 
(appointed 24 December 2010) 

(ii) Senior Management  
 Vic Kuss, CFO (appointed 5 September 2011) 

& Joint Company Secretary  
(appointed 14 May 2012) 

 Duncan Cornish, CFO  
(Resigned 4 September 2011) & Company 
Secretary (appointed 24 December 2010) 

 Chris Turvey, Exploration and Resource 
Manager (appointed 24 December 2010) 

(b) Remuneration Details  

The following table of benefits and payments details, in 
respect to the financial years ended 30 June 2012 and 
2011, the component of remuneration for each key 
management person of the consolidated entity and, to 
the extent different, the five consolidated entity 
executives and five company executives who received 
the highest remuneration: 
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2012 

Short-Term Benefits Post-
Employment 

Termination 
Benefits 

Share-based 
payments 

Total % 
Remuneration 

as options 

Salary & 
Fees 

Cash 
Bonus 

Other short-
term 

benefits 

Superannuation  Equity-
settled 

(options) 

Cash-settled   

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $  

Directors          

Peter Lynch #@ 294,250 - - - - - - 294,250 0% 

Jim Middleton #       400,000 140,000 4,328 15,775 - 663,529 - 1,223,632 54.2% 

Pat Hanna # 429,000 - - - - - - 429,000 0% 

Domenic Martino # 55,000 - - - - - - 55,000 0% 

Total  1,178,250 140,000 4,328 15,775 - 663,529 - 2,001,882  

Senior Management         

Chris Turvey# 250,000 - - - - 132,706 - 382,706 34.68% 

Duncan Cornish# 80,667 - - - - - - 80,667 0% 

Victor Kuss^ 196,115 50,000 15,751 13,015 - 675,944 - 950,825 71.09% 

Total  526,782 50,000 15,751 13,015 - 808,650 - 1,414,198  

# appointed 24 December 2010 
^ appointed 5 September 2011 
@ During the year ended 30 June 2012, Peter has spent more than 50% of his time for Cokal related matters and has received a fee greater than the 
minimum base fee.  

 
 

2011 

Short-Term Benefits Post-
Employment 

Termination 
Benefits 

Share-based 
payments 

Total % 
Remuneration 

as options 

Salary & 
Fees 

Cash 
Bonus 

Other short-
term 

benefits 

Superannuation  Equity-
settled 

(options) 

Cash-settled   

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $  

Directors          

Peter Lynch # 100,000 - - - - - - 100,000 0% 

Jim Middleton #       282,051 - - 11,400 - 549,487 - 842,938 65.2% 

Pat Hanna # 270,371 - - - - - - 270,371 0% 

Domenic Martino # 25,833 - - - - - - 25,833 0% 

Harjinder Kehal ^ 20,000 - - 1,800 - - - 21,800 0% 

Nick Archibald * 6,129 - - 552 - - - 6,681 0% 

Jeremy Shervington ^    20,000 - - 1,800 - - - 21,800 0% 

Bradley Abbott ^  20,000 - - 1,800 - - - 21,800 0% 

Total  744,384 - - 17,352 - 549,487 - 1,311,223  

Senior Management         

Chris Turvey# 130,769 - - - - 109,898 - 240,667 45.7% 

Duncan Cornish# 62,581 - - - - - - 62,581 0% 

Total  193,350 - - - - 109,898 - 303,248  

* resigned 25 August 2010 
^ resigned 24 December 2010 
# appointed 24 December 2010 
 

 
In 2011 and 2012 the consolidated entity had fewer than 5 Executives. 
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Cash Bonuses, Performance-related Bonuses and Share-based Payments 

Key management personnel and other executives were paid cash bonuses or performance-related bonuses during the year 
ended 30 June 2012.  

Details of share-based payments to key management personnel and other executives awarded and vested during the year 
ended 30 June 2012 are detailed in the table below.   

 Remuneration 
type 

Grant date Number Exercise 
Price 

Grant 
value 
(per 

option) 
$ # 

Percentage 
vested / 

paid during 
year 

% 

Percentage 
forfeited 

during year 
% 

Percentage 
remaining 

as unvested 
% 

Expiry date 

Consolidated entity key management personnel       
Victor Kuss Options 24/08/2011 3,000,000 $1.10 $0.34 - - 100% 5/09/2015 

 Victor Kuss  Options 24/08/2011 2,000,000 $1.50 $0.30 - - 100% 5/09/2015 

   Jim 
Middleton Options 29/12/2010 5,000,000 $0.50 $0.17 100% - - 29/12/2014 

  Chris Turvey Options 29/12/2010 1,000,000 $0.50 $0.17 100% - - 29/12/2014 

# Calculation of value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which takes into account factors such as the option exercise 
price, the market price at the date of issue and volatility of the underlying share price and the time to maturity of the option.   

 
Details of share-based payments to key management personnel and other executives awarded and vested during the year 
ended 30 June 2011 are detailed in the table below.   

 Remuneration 
type 

Grant date Number Exercise 
Price 

Grant 
value 
(per 

option) 
$ # 

Percentage 
vested / 

paid during 
year 

% 

Percentage 
forfeited 

during year 
% 

Percentage 
remaining 

as unvested 
% 

Expiry date 

Consolidated entity key management personnel     
   Jim 

Middleton Options 29/12/2010 5,000,000 $0.50 $0.17 - - 100% 29/12/2014 

  Jim 
Middleton Options 29/12/2010 5,000,000 $0.75 $0.09 - - 100% 29/12/2014 

  Chris Turvey Options 29/12/2010 1,000,000 $0.50 $0.17 - - 100% 29/12/2014 

  Chris Turvey Options 29/12/2010 1,000,000 $0.75 $0.09 - - 100% 29/12/2014 

# Calculation of value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which takes into account factors such as the option exercise 
price, the market price at the date of issue and volatility of the underlying share price and the time to maturity of the option.   
 
These options were not issued based on performance 
criteria as the Board does not consider this appropriate 
for a junior exploration company.  The options were 
issued to the director and senior management of Cokal 
Limited to align comparative shareholder return and 
reward for director and senior management. 

All options were issued by Cokal Limited and entitle the 
holder to one ordinary share in Cokal Limited for each 
option exercised. 

All options granted as part of remuneration for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 were granted for nil consideration.  
Once vested, options can be exercised at any time up to 
the expiry date. 

(c) Hedging of Director’s share based payments 
The consolidated entity does not currently have a policy 
prohibiting directors and executives from entering into 
arrangements to protect the value of unvested options. 
No directors or executives have entered into contracts to 
hedge their exposure to options awarded as part of their 
remuneration package. 

 
 

Directors’ Meetings 
The number of meetings of Directors (including 
meetings of committees of directors) held during the 
year and the number of meetings attended by each 
Director was as follows: 
 
 Board Audit Committee 

 Number of 
meetings 

held while in 
office 

Meetings  
attended 

Number of 
meetings 

held while 
in office 

Meetings  
attended 

Peter Lynch 12 12 2 2 

Jim 
Middleton 12 12 n/a n/a 

Pat Hanna 12 11 2 2 

Domenic 
Martino 12 12 2 2 

 
 

  





 
 

 

  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 
 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Cokal Limited 
 
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Cokal Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, to the 
best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable Code of Professional Conduct. 
 
 

 
Ernst & Young 
 
 

 
 
Brad Tozer 
Partner 
Brisbane 
19 September 2012 
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Shareholder Information 
 
Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as 
follows.  The information is current as at 31 August 2012.  

(a) Distribution of Ordinary Shares and Options 
The number of holders, by size of holding, in each class of security is: 

 Ordinary shares 
Listed options 

($0.20 @ 1/2/12) 
Unlisted options 

($0.30 @ 30/09/12) 
Unlisted options 

($0.20 @ 31/12/12) 
 Number of 

holders 
Number of 

shares 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

options 
Number of 

holders 
Number of 

options 
Number 

of holders 
Number of 

options 

1 – 1,000 331 301,964 - - - - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 195 607,353 - - - - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 310 2,816,789 - - - - - - 

10,001 – 100,000 623 23,793,321 - - 20 1,080,000 - - 

100,001 and over 192 383,527,465 - - 12 19,700,000 2 2,000,000 

Total 1,651 411,046,892 - - 32 20,780,000 2 2,000,000 

 
 Unlisted options 

($1.00 @ 15/5/13) 
Unlisted options 

($0.50 @ 29/12/14) 
Unlisted options 

($0.75 @ 29/12/14) 
Unlisted options 

($0.75 @ 12/4/15) 

 Number of 
holders 

Number of 
options 

Number of 
holders 

Number of 
options 

Number of 
holders 

Number of 
options   

1 – 1,000 - - - - - - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 - - - - - - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 - - - - - - - - 

10,001 – 
100,000 - - - - - - 4 325,000 

100,001 and 
over 1 8,500,000 2 6,000,000 2 6,000,000 2 900,000 

Total 1 8,500,000 2 6,000,000 2 6,000,000 6 1,225,000 

 
 Unlisted options 

($1.00 @ 29/6/15) 
Unlisted options 
($1.10 @ 5/9/15) 

Unlisted options 
($1.50 @ 5/9/15) 

 Number of 
holders 

Number of 
options 

Number of 
holders 

Number of 
options 

Number of 
holders 

Number of 
options 

1 – 1,000 - - - - - - 

1,001 – 5,000 - - - - - - 

5,001 – 10,000 - - - - - - 

10,001 – 100,000 1 50,000 - - - - 

100,001 and over 1 500,000 1 3,000,000 1 2,000,000 

Total 2 550,000 1 3,000,000 1 2,000,000 

 
The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel is 1,651 (411,046,892 ordinary shares) on a share price of 
$0.170. 
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(b) Twenty Largest Holders 
The names of the twenty largest holders, in each class of quoted security (ordinary shares) are: 
 

 
 Number of 

shares  
% of total 

shares 
1 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED*         80,272,639   19.53 
2 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED         66,979,721   16.29 
3 JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED*         43,598,695   10.61 
4 GEBRUN PTY LTD <PETLA A/C>         35,000,000   8.51 
5 PATRICK JOSEPH HANNA 25,000,000  6.08 
6 PETER ANTHONY LYNCH + LAURA ANNE LYNCH <SEBAL SUPER FUND A/C> 20,085,000  4.89 
7 USB WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 16,395,000  3.99 
8 TJ SMOCK & CO PTY LTD <MIDDLETON FAMILY A/C> 10,000,000  2.43 
9 SHANE DOHERTY <RESOURCES INVESTMENT ACCOUNT A/C>         4,000,000   0.97 

10 UOB KAY HIAN (HONG KONG) LIMITED <CILENTS A/C>         3,230,378  0.79 
11 ABN AMRO CLEARING SYDNEY NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,182,603  0.74 
12 ALBIANO HOLDINGS PTY LTD <PANTHEON FAMILY A/C> 3,000,000  0.73 
13 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED          2,761,923   0.67 
14 RICO RESSOURCES LIMITIED          2,758,667  0.67 
15 PERSHING AUSTRALIA NOMINESS PTY LTD <ARGONAUT ACCOUNT>          2,699,968   0.66 
16 NK WA PTY LTD <NK UNIT A/C>          2,000,000  0.49 
17 REAL GOLD PTY LTD          2,000,000   0.49 
18 TRANQUILO INVESTMENTS LIMITED          1,772,000   0.43 
19 LQ SUPER PTY LTD <LQ SUPER FUND A/C>          1,666,667   0.41 
20 TOPSFIELD PTY LTD          1,633,334  0.40 

 Top 20 328,036,595  79.78 

 Total 411,046,892  100.00% 
* merged 
 

Substantial Shareholders 
Substantial shareholders as shown in substantial shareholder notices received by Cokal Limited at 6 September 2012 are:  

Name of Shareholder: Ordinary Shares: 

Patrick Joseph Hanna 25,000,000 

Peter Anthony Lynch & Laura Anne Lynch 55,085,000 

Domenic Vincent Martino & Sandra Gae Martino 37,120,001 

BlackRock International Ltd 
BlackRock Investment Management (Korea) Ltd 
BlackRock (Channel Islands) Ltd 
BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Ltd 
BlackRock Investment Management (LUX) 

47,466,000 

Passport Material Master Fund, LP 
Passport Material Master Fund II, LP 
Blackwell Partners LLC 
Norges Bank (Central Bank of Norway) 
Passport Advisors, LP 
Passport Holdings, LLC 
Passport Capital, LLC 
John H. Burbank III 

39,826,802 

 
(c) Voting rights 
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. 

(d) Business objectives 
The consolidated entity has used its cash and assets that are readily convertible to cash in a way consistent with its business 
objectives. 
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Interests in Tenements and Projects 

 
Cokal Limited held the following interests in tenements at 5 September 2012:   

Australia 

Tenement  Location % 
Interest Grant Date Expiry Date 

EPC 1649 Queensland 100% 5 November 2009 4 November 2014 

EPC 1650 Queensland 100% 23 January 2012 22 January 2017 

EPC 1651 Queensland 100% 30 May 2012 29 May 2017 

EPC 1652 Queensland 100% 5 November 2009 4 November 2014 

EPC 1653 Queensland 100% 3 July 2012 2 July 2017 

EPC 1660 Queensland 100% 19 February 2010 18 February 2015 

EPC 1664 Queensland 100% 5 November 2009 4 November 2014 

EPC 1665 Queensland 100% 19 February 2010 18 February 2015 

EPC 1666 Queensland 100% 15 May 2012 14 May 2017 

EPCA 1648 Queensland 100% Proceed to grant n/a 

EPCA 1661 Queensland 100% Application n/a 

EPCA 1662 Queensland 100% Application n/a 

 
Cokal Limited had the following interests in projects as at 5 September 2012: 

Indonesia 
Project Location % Interest 

PT Anugerah Alam Katingan (AAK) Kalimantan 75% 

PT Anugerah Alam Manuhing (AAM) Kalimantan 75% 

PT Bumi Barito Mineral (BBM) Kalimantan 60% 

PT Borneo Bara Prima (BBP) Kalimantan 60% 

PT Silangkop Nusa Raya (SNR) Kalimantan 75.2% 

 
Tanzania 

Project Location % Interest 

Joint Venture with Tanzoz Resources (JV1 or Manda)  
over tenement number PL 6281 Tanzania 50% 

Joint Venture with Tanzoz Resources (JV2)  
over tenement number PL 5395 plus additional  
tenements indentified by the parties 

Tanzania 60% 
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Corporate Governance Statement 

  
The board of directors of Cokal Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the consolidated entity.  The Board 
guides and monitors the business and affairs of Cokal Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and 
to whom they are accountable.  

Cokal Limited’s Corporate Governance Statement is structured with reference to the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) 
Corporate Governance Council’s (the “Council”) “Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations, 2nd Edition”, 
which are as follows: 

 Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

 Principle 2 Structure the board to add value 

 Principle 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

 Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

 Principle 5 Make timely and balanced disclosure 

 Principle 6  Respect the rights of shareholders 

 Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk 

 Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

 

A copy of the eight Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations can be found on the ASX’s website. 

The Board is of the view that with the exception of the departures from the ASX Guidelines as set out below, it otherwise 
complies with all of the ASX Guidelines. 

ASX Principles  
and Recommendations 

Summary of the Consolidated Entity’s  
Position 

  
Principle 2 – Structure the Board to Add Value 
Recommendation 2.1 – A majority of the 
Board should be independent directors 

While the consolidated entity does not presently comply with this 
recommendation, the consolidated entity may consider appointing further 
independent directors in the future.  The consolidated entity believes that 
given the size and scale of its operations, non-compliance by the 
consolidated entity with this recommendation will not be detrimental to 
the consolidated entity. 

Recommendation 2.2 – The chair should be 
an independent director 

Mr Peter Lynch is the Executive Chairman.  The consolidated entity does not 
consider Mr Lynch to be an independent director as defined in the ASX 
Guidelines on the basis that he is employed by the Company in an executive 
capacity and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the Company. 

The consolidated entity believes that given the size and scale of its 
operations, non-compliance by the consolidated entity with this 
recommendation will not be detrimental to the consolidated entity. 

Recommendation 2.4 – The board should 
establish a nomination committee 

The Board’s view is that the consolidated entity is not currently of the size 
to justify the formation of a separate nomination committee.  The Board 
currently performs the functions of a nomination committee and where 
necessary will seek advice of external advisors in relation to this role.  The 
Board shall, upon the consolidated entity reaching the requisite corporate 
and commercial maturity, form a nomination committee to assist the Board 
in relation to the appointment of Directors and senior management. 
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ASX Principles  
and Recommendations 

Summary of the Consolidated Entity’s  
Position 

  
Principle 4 – Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting 
Recommendation 4.2 – The audit 
committee should be structured so that it: 

- Consists only of non-executive 
directors 

- Consists of a majority of independent 
directors 

- Is chaired by an independent chair, 
who is not chair of the board 

- Has at least 3 members 

Mr Domenic Martino is a non-executive director and the current Chairman 
of the Audit and Risk Management Committee. The consolidated entity 
does not consider Mr Martino to be an independent director as defined in 
the ASX Guidelines on the basis that he, together with his associated 
entities, are in aggregate a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the 
consolidated entity.   

Mr Peter Lynch is the Executive Chairman.  The consolidated entity does not 
consider Mr Lynch to be an independent director as defined in the ASX 
Guidelines on the basis that he is employed by the Company in an executive 
capacity and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the Company. 

Mr Pat Hanna is the Executive Director.  The consolidated entity does not 
consider Mr Hanna to be an independent director as defined in the ASX 
Guidelines on the basis that he is employed by the Company in an executive 
capacity and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the Company. 

On the basis of above information, the consolidated entity is of the view 
that the current Committee does not consist of a majority of independent 
directors.  While the consolidated entity does not presently comply with 
this Recommendation 4.2, the consolidated entity may consider appointing 
further independent Directors in the future.  The consolidated entity 
believes that given the size and scale of its operations, non-compliance by 
the consolidated entity with this Recommendation 4.2 will not be 
detrimental to the consolidated entity. 

Principle 7 - Recognise and Manage Risk  
Recommendation 7.2 – The Board should 
require management to design and 
implement the risk management and 
internal control system to manage the 
company’s material business risks and 
report to it on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. The board should 
disclose that management has reported to it 
as to the effectiveness of the company’s 
management of its material business risks. 

 

The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy, which sets out the 
Company's risk profile. Under the policy, the Board is responsible for 
approving the Company's policies on risk oversight and management and 
satisfying itself that management has developed and implemented a sound 
system of risk management and internal control.  

Under the policy, the Board delegates day-to-day management of risk to 
the Managing Director, who is responsible for identifying, assessing, 
monitoring and managing risks. The Managing Director is also responsible 
for updating the Company's material business risks to reflect any material 
changes, with the approval of the Board.  

 

Principle 8 – Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly 
Recommendation 8.1 – The board should 
establish a remuneration committee 

The Board has not established a remuneration committee. The Board 
considers that given its size, no efficiencies or other benefits would be 
gained by the establishing of such committee. The role of the remuneration 
committee is carried out by the full Board. The Board shall, upon the 
consolidated entity reaching the requisite corporate and commercial 
maturity, form a nomination committee to assist the Board in relation to 
the appointment of Directors and senior management. 
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Board  
The Board has adopted a formal board charter that 
outlines the roles and responsibilities of directors and 
senior executives.  The Board Charter has been made 
publicly available on Cokal Limited's website. 

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the 
position of Director held by each Director on office at the 
date of the Annual Report is included in the Director’s 
Report. Corporate Governance Council Recommendation 
2.1 requires a majority of the Board should be 
independent Directors. The Corporate Governance 
Council defines an independent director as a non-
executive director who is not a member of management 
and who is free of any business or other relationship that 
could materially interfere with – or could reasonably be 
perceived to materially interfere with – the independent 
exercise of their judgement. 

In the context of Director independence, “materiality” is 
considered from both the Company and the individual 
Director perspective.  The determination of materiality 
requires consideration of both quantitative and 
qualitative elements.   

 

An item is presumed to be quantitatively immaterial if it 
is equal or less than 10% of the appropriate base amount.  
It is presumed to be material (unless there is qualitative 
evidence to the contrary) if it is equal to or greater than 
10% of the appropriate base amount.  Qualitative factors 
considered included whether a relationship is 
strategically important, the competitive landscape, the 
nature of the relationship and the contractual or other 
arrangements governing it and other factors which point 
to the actual ability of the Director in question to shape 
the direction of the Company’s loyalty. 

Factors that may impact on a director’s independence 
are considered each time the Board meets. 

At the date of this report: 
In accordance with the Council’s definition of 
independence above, and the materiality thresholds set 
none of the Directors are considered to be independent. 

In accordance with the Council’s definition of 
independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, 
the following Directors are not considered to be 
independent: 

 

Name Position Reason for Non-compliance 

Peter Lynch Executive Chairman Peter Lynch is employed by the Company in an executive capacity 
and is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the Company. 

Jim Middleton Managing Director & Chief 
Executive Officer 

Jim Middleton is employed by the Company in an executive 
capacity. 

Pat Hanna Executive Director Pat Hanna is employed by the Company in an executive capacity and 
is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in the Company. 

Domenic Martino Non-Executive Director Domenic Martino is a substantial (greater than 5%) shareholder in 
the Company. 

 

Cokal Limited considers industry experience and specific 
expertise, as well as general corporate experience, to be 
important attributes of its Board members. The Directors 
noted above have been appointed to the Board of Cokal 
Limited due to their considerable industry and corporate 
experience.  

There are procedures in place, agreed by the Board, to 
enable Directors, in furtherance of their duties, to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense. 

The term in office held by each Director in office at the 
date of this report is as follows: 

Name Term in Office 

Peter Lynch 1 year 9 months 

Jim Middleton 1 year 9 months 

Pat Hanna 1 year 9 months 

Domenic Martino 1 year 9 months 

  

 

Trading Policy 
The Board has adopted a policy and procedure on dealing 
in the Company’s securities by Directors, officers and 
employees which prohibits dealing in the Company’s 
securities when those persons possess inside information 
until it has been released to the market and adequate 
time has passed for this to be reflected in the security’s 
prices, and during certain pre-determined windows. 

The Company’s policy regarding dealings by directors in 
the Company’s shares is that directors should never 
engage in short term trading and should not enter into 
transactions when they are in possession of price 
sensitive information not yet released by the Company to 
the market; or for a period of fourteen (14) days prior to 
the scheduled (per ASX Listing Rules) release by the 
Company of (ASX) Quarterly Operations and Cash Flow 
Reports or such shorter period as may be approved of by 
the Chairman after receipt of notice of intention to buy 
or sell by a director to other members of the Board. 
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Directors will generally be permitted to engage in trading 
(subject to due notification being given to the 
Chairperson and Secretary) for a period commencing one 
(1) business day after the release of (ASX) Quarterly 
Operations and Cash Flow Reports to the market and for 
a period commencing one (1) business day following the 
release of price sensitive information to the market 
which allows a reasonable period of time for the 
information to be disseminated among members of the 
public. 

Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees 
Due to the size and scale of operations, Cokal Limited 
does not have separately established Remuneration or 
Nomination Committees. The full Board carries out the 
functions of Remuneration and Nomination Committees.  

Audit Committee 
The Board has established an Audit Committee. It is the 
Board’s responsibility to ensure that an effective internal 
control framework exists within the Company.  This 
includes internal controls to deal with both the 
effectiveness and efficiency of significant business 
processes, the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance 
of proper accounting records, and the reliability of 
financial information as well as non-financial 
considerations such as the benchmarking of operational 
key performance indicators.  The Board has delegated 
the responsibility for the establishment and maintenance 
of a framework of internal control and ethical standards 
for the management of the Company to the Audit 
Committee. 

The Committee also provides the Board with additional 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
information for inclusion in the financial reports.   

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this 
report are: 
• Domenic Martino (Chairman) 
• Peter Lynch 
• Pat Hanna 

For additional details of directors’ attendance at Audit 
Committee meetings and to review the qualifications of 
the members of the Audit Committee, please refer to the 
Directors’ Report. 

The Audit Committee Charter has been made publicly 
available on the Company’s website. 

Risk Management 
Material business risks are considered informally as the 
Company’s business evolves, since it commenced 
exploration in January 2011, plus formally at each Board 
meeting. 

The Company has adopted a formal framework for risk 
management and internal compliance and control 
systems which cover organisational, financial and 
operational aspects of the Company’s affairs as the 
Company’s activities expand.  The Board believes the 
current approach to risk management is appropriate 
given the size and scale of its operations.  Further detail 

of the Company Risk Management Policies can be found 
within the Corporate Governance Policy available on the 
Company website (www.cokal.com.au). 

Recommendation 7.2 requires that the Board disclose 
that management has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s management of its 
material business risks.  Business risks are considered 
regularly by the Board and management.  A formal report 
to the Board as to the effectiveness of the management 
of the Company’s material business risks has not been 
provided since the new Board and managements’ 
appointment (on 24 December 2010).  As noted, these 
formal procedures are being developed. 

As required by Recommendation 7.3, the Board has 
received written assurances from the Managing Director 
and Chief Financial Officer that to the best of their 
knowledge and belief, the declaration provided by them 
in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 
is founded on a sound system of risk management and 
internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial 
reporting risks.  

Performance Evaluation 
The full Board, in carrying out the functions of the 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees, considers 
remuneration and nomination issues annually and 
otherwise as required in conjunction with the regular 
meetings of the Board. 

During the Reporting Period a CEO performance 
evaluation took place. The evaluations were conducted 
by the Board on an informal basis. 

Remuneration 
It is the Company’s objective to provide maximum 
stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality 
Board and Executive team by remunerating directors and 
key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to 
relevant and employment market conditions.  To assist in 
achieving this objective, the Remuneration Committee 
and the Board links the nature and amount of Executive 
Director’s and Officer’s emoluments to the consolidated 
entity’s financial and operations performance. The 
expected outcomes of the remuneration structure are: 
• retention and motivation of key Executives 
• attraction of quality management to the 

consolidated entity 
• performance incentives which allow Executives to 

share the rewards of the success of Cokal Limited 

For details on the amount of remuneration and all 
monetary and non-monetary components for each of the 
five highest paid (Non-Director) Executives during the 
period, and for all Directors, please refer to the 
Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report. In 
relation to the payment of bonuses, options and other 
incentive payments, discretion is exercised by the Board, 
having regard to the overall performance of Cokal 
Limited and the performance of the individual during the 
period. 

There is no scheme to provide retirement benefits, other 
than statutory superannuation, to Non-Executive 
Directors. 

http://www.cokal.com.au/
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The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing 
compensation arrangements for the Directors 
themselves, subject to Cokal Limited’s constitution and 
prior shareholder approvals, and the Executive team.  

The consolidated entity does not currently have a policy 
of implementing a ban on hedging economic risk of 
options. 

Continuous Disclosure Policy 
Detailed compliance procedures for ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements have been adopted by the 
consolidated entity.  Cokal Limited’s Continuous 
Disclosure Policy can be found within Cokal Limited’s 
Corporate Governance Charter on the Cokal Limited 
website (www.cokal.com.au) in the Corporate 
Governance section. 

Communications  
The consolidated entity has designed a disclosure system 
to ensure it complies with the ASX’s continuous 

disclosure rules and that information is made available to 
all investors equally, promoting effective 
communications with shareholders and encouraging 
shareholder participation at general shareholder 
meetings.   

In addition to corporate and project information 
generally available on the Company’s website, in the 
Investor Relations section of the Company’s website the 
following information is made available: 
• ASX Releases 
• Corporate Presentations 
• Quarterly Reports 
• Half-yearly and Annual Reports 
• Capital Structure 

Other Information 
Further information relating to the Company’s corporate 
governance practices and policies has been made publicly 
available on the Company’s web site 
at:  www.cokal.com.au.  

http://www.cokal.com.au/
http://www.cokal.com.au/
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 
 

 
    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

Revenue and other income  2     1,124,365  584,488 

Pre-tenure exploration expenses      (596,209)  (101,321) 

Employee benefits expenses      (3,730,884)  (1,520,862) 

Depreciation expenses      (84,900)  (4,344) 

Finance costs      (25)  (3) 

Legal expenses      (266,087)  (563,382) 

Administration and consulting expenses      (1,646,329)  (430,900) 

Other expenses       (1,115,148)  (607,589) 

Loss before income tax expense      (6,315,217)  (2,643,913) 

Income tax expense  4     -  - 

Net loss for the year      (6,315,217)  (2,643,913) 

Other comprehensive income      -  - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year   (6,315,217)  (2,643,913) 

         

Loss per share for the loss attributable to owners of Cokal Ltd:    Cents  Cents 

         

Loss per share (cents per share) 8     (1.68)  (1.39) 

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) 8     (1.68)  (1.39) 

         

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2012 
 
 

 
    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

Current Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents 9     29,628,099  17,216,696 

Accounts receivable 10     562,397  162,839 

Other current assets 15     181,162  35,500 

Total Current Assets      30,371,658  17,415,035 

Non-Current Assets        

Plant and equipment 13     808,770  440,547 

Exploration and evaluation assets 14     33,306,527  26,753,667 

Other non-current assets 15     218,796  207,037 

Total Non-Current Assets     34,334,093  27,401,251 

TOTAL ASSETS     64,705,751  44,816,286 

Current Liabilities         

Accounts payable 16     1,426,885  8,268,725 

Total Current Liabilities      1,426,885  8,268,725 

Non-Current Liabilities          

Deferred liability  16     276,750  322,875 

Total Non-Current Liabilities      276,750  322,875 

TOTAL LIABILITIES     1,703,635  8,591,600 

NET ASSETS     63,002,116  36,224,686 

Equity        

Issued capital 17     73,003,471  41,731,103 

Reserves 18     2,547,998  727,719 

Accumulated losses 19     (12,549,353)  (6,234,136) 

TOTAL EQUITY     63,002,116  36,224,686 

         

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 

 

 
Issued Capital Accumulated Losses Reserves Total 

 $ $ $ $ 

At 1 July 2010 6,210,843 (3,590,223) 19,019 2,639,639 

     

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year     

Loss for the year - (2,643,913) - (2,643,913) 

 - (2,643,913) - (2,643,913) 

     

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners 

    

Issue of share capital 36,802,645 - - 36,802,645 

Costs associated with issue of share capital (1,282,385) - - (1,282,385) 

Share based payments - - 708,700 708,700 

 35,520,260 - 708,700 36,228,960 

     

At 30 June 2011 41,731,103 (6,234,136) 727,719 36,224,686 

     

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year     

Loss for the year - (6,315,217) - (6,315,217) 

 - (6,315,217) - (6,315,217) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners 

    

Issue of share capital 31,277,231 - - 31,277,231 

Costs associated with issue of share capital (4,863) - - (4,863) 

Share based payments - - 1,820,279 1,820,279 

 31,272,368 - 1,820,279 33,092,647 

     

At 30 June 2012 73,003,471 (12,549,353) 2,547,998 63,002,116 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 

 
    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities         

Payments to suppliers and employees      (4,662,549)  (2,477,982) 

Interest received      813,785  462,859 

Interest paid      (25)  (3) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities 24     (3,848,789)  (2,015,126) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities         

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment     -  8,000 

Payments for plant and equipment     (373,819)  (72,401) 

Deposits maturing after three months  9     (14,287,098)  - 

Proceeds from sale of tenements      -  70,000 

Payments for exploration and evaluation assets     (14,626,598)  (14,729,559) 

Security deposit payments      (11,759)  (201,677) 

Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary      -  215,504 

Net cash outflow from investing activities      (29,299,274)  (14,710,133) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities         

Proceeds from issue of shares and options      31,277,231  32,573,286 

Transaction costs on share issue      (4,863)  (1,282,385) 

Net cash inflow from financing activities      31,272,368  31,290,901 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash  and cash 
equivalents  

     (1,875,695)  14,565,642 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year      17,216,696  2,651,054 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year * 9     15,341,001  17,216,696 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
 
*Total cash and cash equivalents (including amounts on deposit) at 30 June 2012 was $29,628,099 (2011: 17,216,696)
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 
 

Note 1:  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
General Information 

The consolidated financial statements of Cokal Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors and covers the consolidated entity (the “Group”) consisting of Cokal Limited 
and its subsidiaries. 

The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency.  

Cokal Limited (the parent) is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia, whose shares are publicly 
traded on the Australian Securities Exchange.   

The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in the director’s report. 

Basis of Preparation 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 

The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 

Going Concern  

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates the continuity of normal business 
activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  The ability of the Group 
to continue to adopt the going concern assumption will depend upon a number of matters including the successful raising in 
the future of necessary funding, through debt, equity or farm-out, or the successful exploration and subsequent exploitation 
of the Group’s tenements. Should these avenues be delayed or fail to materialize, the Group has the ability to scale back its 
activities to allow the Group to continue as a going concern and meet its debts as and when they fall due. However, the 
financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts 
or to the amounts and classification of liabilities should the group be unsuccessful in raising funds on managing its existing 
funds to enable it to realise its assets in the ordinary course of business. 

Changes in Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies and methods of computation are the same as those in the prior year except as disclosed below. 

From 1 July 2011 the Group has adopted the following new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations. 
Adoption of these standards and Interpretations did not have any material effect on the financial position or performance of 
the Group. 

Reference 
Note 1:  Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
Title 

Application 
date of 
standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

AASB 124 
(Revised) 

The revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (December 2009) simplifies the 
definition of a related party, clarifying its intended meaning and eliminating 
inconsistencies from the definition, including: 
(a) The definition now identifies a subsidiary and an associate with the same investor 

as related parties of each other 
(b) Entities significantly influenced by one person and entities significantly influenced 

by a close member of the family of that person are no longer related parties of 
each other  

(c) The definition now identifies that, whenever a person or entity has both joint 
control over a second entity and joint control or significant influence over a third 
party, the second and third entities are related to each other 

A partial exemption is also provided from the disclosure requirements for government-
related entities. Entities that are related by virtue of being controlled by the same 
government can provide reduced related party disclosures. 
 
 

1 January 
2011 

1 July 2011 
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Reference 
Note 1:  Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
Title 

Application 
date of 
standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
[AASBs 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 
1039 & 1052] 
Makes numerous editorial changes to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations. 
In particular, it amends AASB 8 Operating Segments to require an entity to exercise 
judgement in assessing whether a government and entities known to be under the 
control of that government are considered a single customer for the purposes of certain 
operating segment disclosures.  It also makes numerous editorial amendments to a 
range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including amendments to 
reflect changes made to the text of IFRS by the IASB. 

1 January 
2011 

1 July 2011 

AASB 2010-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project 
[AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 134 and Interpretation 13]  
Emphasises the interaction between quantitative and qualitative AASB 7 disclosures 
and the nature and extent of risks associated with financial instruments. 
Clarifies that an entity will present an analysis of other comprehensive income for each 
component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the 
financial statements.  
Provides guidance to illustrate how to apply disclosure principles in AASB 134 for 
significant events and transactions. 
Clarifies that when the fair value of award credits is measured based on the value of the 
awards for which they could be redeemed, the amount of discounts or incentives 
otherwise granted to customers not participating in the award credit scheme, is to be 
taken into account. 

1 January 
2011 

1 July 2011 

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 
and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042] 
This Standard makes numerous editorial amendments to a range of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, including amendments to reflect changes 
made to the text of IFRS by the IASB. 
These amendments have no major impact on the requirements of the amended 
pronouncements. 

1 January 
2011 

1 July 2011 

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial 
Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7] 
The amendments increase the disclosure requirements for transactions involving 
transfers of financial assets but which are not derecognised and introduce new 
disclosures for assets that are derecognised but the entity continues to have a 
continuing exposure to the asset after the sale. 

1 July 2011 1 July 2011 

AASB 2010-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Severe Hyperinflation and Removal 
of Fixed Dates for First-time adopters [AASB 1]  
In respect of the removal of fixed dates, the amendments provide relief for first-time 
adopters of Australian Accounting Standards from having to reconstruct transactions 
that occurred before their date of transition to Australian Accounting Standards. The 
amendments in respect of severe hyperinflation provide guidance for entities emerging 
from severe hyperinflation either to resume presenting Australian Accounting 
Standards financial statements or to present Australian Accounting Standards financial 
statements for the first time. 

1 July 2011 1 July 2011 

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards 
AASB 1048 identifies the Australian Interpretations and classifies them into two groups: 
those that correspond to an IASB Interpretation and those that do not.  Entities are 
required to apply each relevant Australian Interpretation in preparing financial 
statements that are within the scope of the Standard.  The revised version of AASB 1048 
updates the lists of Interpretations for new and amended Interpretations issued since 
the June 2010 version of AASB 1048. 

1 July 2011 1 July 2011 
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Accounting Standards Issued but not yet Effective 

The Group has not elected to early adopt the following new standards or amendments that are applicable to the Group and are 
issued or approved by IASB but not yet effective at 30 June 2012.  
 

Reference 

Note 1:  Accounting 
Standards issued but not 
yet effective 
 
Title 

Summary 

Impact on 
Group 

financial 
report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

2010-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Deferred Tax: 
Recovery of Underlying 
Assets  
[AASB 112] 
 

These amendments address the 
determination of deferred tax on investment 
property measured at fair value and 
introduce a rebuttable presumption that 
deferred tax on investment property 
measured at fair value should be determined 
on the basis that the carrying amount will be 
recoverable through sale. The amendments 
also incorporate SIC-21 Income Taxes – 
Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets 
into AASB 112. 
 

Group assessed 
this new 

standard does 
not impact the 

Group. 

1 Jan 2012 1 July 2012 

AASB 2011-
9 

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Presentation 
of Other Comprehensive 
Income  
[AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 
120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 
1039 & 1049] 

This Standard requires entities to group items 
presented in other comprehensive income on 
the basis of whether they might be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and 
those that will not. 

The Group may 
be affected by 

these 
amendments. 
However, the 
Group has not 

yet 
determined 

the 
extent of the 
impact, if any. 

1 July 2012 1 July 2012 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial 
Statements  

AASB 10 establishes a new control model that 
applies to all entities.  It replaces parts of 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements dealing with the 
accounting for consolidated financial 
statements and UIG-112 Consolidation – 
Special Purpose Entities.  
 
The new control model broadens the 
situations when an entity is considered to be 
controlled by another entity and includes new 
guidance for applying the model to specific 
situations, including when acting as a 
manager may give control, the impact of 
potential voting rights and when holding less 
than a majority voting rights may give control.   
 
Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards via AASB 2011-7. 

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint 
Ventures and UIG-113 Jointly- controlled 
Entities – Non-monetary Contributions by 
Ventures. AASB 11 uses the principle of 
control in AASB 10 to define joint control, and 
therefore the determination of whether joint 
control exists may change. In addition it 
removes the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities (JCEs) using proportionate 
consolidation. Instead, accounting for a joint 
arrangement is dependent on the nature of 
the rights and obligations arising from the 
arrangement. Joint operations that give the 
venturers a right to the underlying assets and 
obligations themselves is accounted for by 
recognising the share of those assets and 
obligations.  Joint ventures that give the 
venturers a right to the net assets is 
accounted for using the equity method.   

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 
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Reference 

Note 1:  Accounting 
Standards issued but not 
yet effective 
 
Title 

Summary 

Impact on 
Group 

financial 
report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards via AASB 2011-7 and 
amendments to AASB 128. 

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities 

AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to an 
entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint 
arrangements, associates and structures 
entities. New disclosures have been 
introduced about the judgments made by 
management to determine whether control 
exists, and to require summarised 
information about joint arrangements, 
associates and structured entities and 
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests. 

Group assessed 
this new 

standard does 
not impact the 

Group. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement AASB 13 establishes a single source of 
guidance for determining the fair value of 
assets and liabilities. AASB 13 does not 
change when an entity is required to use fair 
value, but rather, provides guidance on how 
to determine fair value when fair value is 
required or permitted. Application of this 
definition may result in different fair values 
being determined for the relevant assets. 
 
AASB 13 also expands the disclosure 
requirements for all assets or liabilities 
carried at fair value.  This includes 
information about the assumptions made and 
the qualitative impact of those assumptions 
on the fair value determined. 
 
Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards via AASB 2011-8. 

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 

AASB 119 Employee Benefits The main change introduced by this standard 
is to revise the accounting for defined benefit 
plans.  The amendment removes the options 
for accounting for the liability, and requires 
that the liabilities arising from such plans is 
recognized in full with actuarial gains and 
losses being recognized in other 
comprehensive income.  It also revised the 
method of calculating the return on plan 
assets.   
 
The revised standard changes the definition 
of short-term employee benefits. The 
distinction between short-term and other 
long-term employee benefits is now based on 
whether the benefits are expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the 
reporting date. 
 
Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards via AASB 2011-10.  

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 

Interpretati
on 20 
 

Stripping Costs in the 
Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine 
 

This interpretation applies to stripping costs 
incurred during the production phase of a 
surface mine. Production stripping costs are 
to be capitalised as part of an asset, if an 
entity can demonstrate that it is probable 
future economic benefits will be realised, the 
costs can be reliably measured and the entity 
can identify the component of an ore body 
for which access has been improved. This 
asset is to be called the “stripping activity 
asset”. 
 

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 
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Reference 

Note 1:  Accounting 
Standards issued but not 
yet effective 
 
Title 

Summary 

Impact on 
Group 

financial 
report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

The stripping activity asset shall be 
depreciated or amortised on a systematic 
basis, over the expected useful life of the 
identified component of the ore body that 
becomes more accessible as a result of the 
stripping activity. The units of production 
method shall be applied unless another 
method is more appropriate.  
Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards via AASB 2011-12. 

AASB 2011-
4 

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards to Remove 
Individual Key 
Management Personnel 
Disclosure Requirements 
[AASB 124] 

This Amendment deletes from AASB 124 
individual key management personnel 
disclosure requirements for disclosing entities 
that are not companies. 
 

The Group may 
be affected by 

these 
amendments. 
However, the 
Group has not 

yet 
determined 

the 
extent of the 
impact, if any. 

1 July 2013 1 July 2013 

AASB 2012-
2 

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosures – 
Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities 
 

AASB 2012-2 principally amends AASB 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures to require 
disclosure of information that will enable 
users of an entity’s financial statements to 
evaluate the effect or potential effect of 
netting arrangements, including rights of set-
off associated with the entity’s recognised 
financial assets and recognised financial 
liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. 
 

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 

AASB 2012-
3 

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities; 
 

AASB 2012-3 adds application guidance to 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
to address inconsistencies identified in 
applying some of the offsetting criteria of 
AASB 132, including clarifying the meaning of 
“currently has a legally enforceable right of 
set-off” and that some gross settlement 
systems may be considered equivalent to net 
settlement. 
 

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2014 1 July 2015 

AASB 2012-
5 

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
Annual Improvements 
2009–2011 Cycle; and 
 

AASB 2012-5 makes amendments resulting 
from the 2009-2011 Annual Improvements 
Cycle. The Standard addresses a range of 
improvements, including the following: 
• repeat application of AASB 1 is permitted 

(AASB 1); and 
• clarification of the comparative 

information requirements when an entity 
provides a third balance sheet (AASB 101 
Presentation of Financial Statements). 

The Group may 
be affected by 

these 
amendments. 
However, the 
Group has not 

yet 
determined 

the 
extent of the 
impact, if any. 

1 January 2013 1 July 2013 

Annual 
Improveme
nts  
2009–2011 
Cycle  

Annual Improvements to 
IFRSs 2009–2011 Cycle 

This standard sets out amendments to 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) and the related bases for 
conclusions and guidance made during the 
International Accounting Standards Board’s 
Annual Improvements process. These 
amendments have not yet been adopted by 
the AASB. 
 
The following items are addressed by this 
standard: 

The Group may 
be affected by 

these 
amendments. 
However, the 
Group has not 

yet 
determined 

the 
extent of the 
impact, if any. 

1 January 2013 
 

1 July 2013 
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Reference 

Note 1:  Accounting 
Standards issued but not 
yet effective 
 
Title 

Summary 

Impact on 
Group 

financial 
report 

Application 
date of 

standard 

Application 
date for 
Group 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
• Repeated application of IFRS 1  
• Borrowing costs 
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
• Clarification of the requirements for 

comparative information 
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment  
• Classification of servicing equipment 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
• Tax effect of distribution to holders of 

equity instruments 
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting  
• Interim financial reporting and segment 

information for total assets and liabilities 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments AASB 9 includes requirements for the 
classification and measurement of financial 
assets.  It was further amended by AASB 
2010-7 to reflect amendments to the 
accounting for financial liabilities. 
These requirements improve and simplify the 
approach for classification and measurement 
of financial assets compared with the 
requirements of AASB 139. The main changes 
are described below.  
(a) Financial assets that are debt 

instruments will be classified based on 
(1) the objective of the entity’s business 
model for managing the financial assets; 
(2) the characteristics of the contractual 
cash flows.   

(b) Allows an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses 
on investments in equity instruments 
that are not held for trading in other 
comprehensive income. Dividends in 
respect of these investments that are a 
return on investment can be recognised 
in profit or loss and there is no 
impairment or recycling on disposal of 
the instrument.  

(c) Financial assets can be designated and 
measured at fair value through profit or 
loss at initial recognition if doing so 
eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from 
measuring assets or liabilities, or 
recognising the gains and losses on 
them, on different bases. 

(d) Where the fair value option is used for 
financial liabilities the change in fair 
value is to be accounted for as follows: 
o The change attributable to changes 

in credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income (OCI) 

o The remaining change is presented 
in profit or loss 

If this approach creates or enlarges an 
accounting mismatch in the profit or loss, the 
effect of the changes in credit risk are also 
presented in profit or loss. 
Consequential amendments were also made 
to other standards as a result of AASB 9, 
introduced by AASB 2009-11 and superseded 
by AASB 2010-7 and 2010-10. 

Group 
considers the 

implications of 
this new 

standard and 
assessed this 

would not have 
material 
impact. 

1 January 2015 1 July 2015 



 

COKAL LIMITED Annual Report 2012 | Page 38 of 65 

 

Basis of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Cokal Limited and its subsidiary (“the Group”) as 
at and for the period ended 30 June 2012.  

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to 
obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether a group controls another entity. 

The financial statements of the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances, transactions, 
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends have been eliminated in full. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated 
from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. 

Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of net profit/(loss) after tax in the statement of comprehensive income 
and are presented within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from the equity of the 
owners of the parent. 

Losses are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. 

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 
• Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity 
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received 
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained 
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 
• Reclassifies the parent's share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to profit or  loss, or 

retained earnings, as appropriate 

(a) Business Combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations. Consideration is measured at the fair 
value of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the Group and the amount of non-
controlling interest is the acquiree on acquisition date. Consideration also includes the acquisition date fair values of any 
contingent consideration arrangements, any pre-existing equity interests in the acquiree and share-based payment awards 
of the acquiree that are required to be replaced in a business combination. The acquisition date is the date on which the 
group obtains control of the acquiree. Where equity instruments are issued as part of the consideration, the value of the 
equity instruments is their published market price at the acquisition date unless, in rare circumstances it can be 
demonstrated that the published price at acquisition date is not fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods 
provide a more reliable measure of fair value.  

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations are, with limited 
exceptions, initially measured at their fair values at acquisition date. Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration 
transferred and the amount of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree over fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired. If the consideration and non-controlling interest of the acquiree is less than the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss as a bargain purchase price, but only after a reassessment of 
the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired. 

For each business combination, the Group measures non-controlling interests at either fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

Acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are 
recognised directly in equity. 

If the business combinations is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity 
interest is the acquire is remeasured to fair value at the date of acquisition through profit and loss. 

Where the Group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an equity accounted investment in 
associate or jointly controlled entity, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its 
acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where the Group obtains control of a 
subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an available-for-sale investment, any balance on the available-for-sale 
reserve related to that investment is recognised in profit or loss as if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held 
interest.  
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Where settlement of any part of the cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in future are discounted to present 
value at the date of exchange using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

Contingent consideration is classified as equity or financial liabilities. Amounts classified as financial liabilities are 
subsequently remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or 
loss.  If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it should not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. 

Assets and liabilities from business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control are accounted for 
at the carrying amounts recognised in the Group's controlling shareholder's consolidated financial statements. 

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  For 
the purpose of impairment testing goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash generating 
Unit (CGU) or Group of CGU that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  Impairment is determined 
by assessing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which it relates.  Impairment assessment for goodwill is carried out each 
reporting period.  Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not subsequently reversed. 

(a) Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of 
returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised: 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. 

(b) Income Tax 

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based on the national 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to 
unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, between carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases, at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. 
Exceptions are made for certain temporary differences arising on initial recognition of an asset or a liability if they arose in a 
transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or 
taxable profit. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases 
of investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures where the parent entity is able to control the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Current and deferred tax balances relating to amounts recognised directly in other comprehensive income and equity are 
also recognised directly in other comprehensive income and equity, respectively. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
profitable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 

Cokal Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are in the process of implementing the tax consolidation legislation.   Cokal 
Limited will be the head entity in the tax consolidated group. These entities will be taxed as a single entity and deferred tax 
assets and liabilities have been offset in these consolidated financial statements. 

(c) Impairment of Assets other than Goodwill 

At the end of each reporting period the Group assesses whether there is any indication that individual assets other than 
goodwill, are impaired. Where impairment indicators exist, recoverable amount is determined and impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss where the asset's carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Where it is not possible to estimate recoverable amount for an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
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Assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are tested for possible reverse of the impairment and whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed. 

(d) Joint Venture Operations 

The proportionate share of the Group's interests in the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of joint venture operations 
have been incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings. Details of joint venture operations are 
set out in Note 12. 

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank, deposits 
held at call with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less, 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and 
bank overdrafts. 

(f) Trade Receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amounts less an allowance for uncollectible amounts and have 
repayment terms between 0 and 90 days. Collectability of trade receivables is assessed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are 
known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance is made for doubtful debts where there is objective evidence that 
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms.  Objective evidence of impairment 
includes financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 180 days overdue. On confirmation that 
the trade receivable will not be collectible the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated 
provision. 

From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from customers with which it has 
previously had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead to changes in the timing of payments rather than 
changes to the amounts owed and are not, in the view of the directors, sufficient to require the derecognition of the original 
instrument. 

(g) Fair Values 

Fair values may be used for financial asset and liability measurement and well as for sundry disclosures. 

Fair values for financial instruments traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting 
period. The quoted market price for financial assets is the current bid price and the quoted market price. 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values 
due to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the 
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial 
instruments. 

(i) Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less depreciation and impairment losses. 

The cost of plant and equipment constructed within the Group includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs 
and an appropriate portion of fixed and variable costs. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in 
which they are incurred. 

Depreciation 

The depreciable amount of plant and equipment is depreciated over their useful life to the Group commencing from the 
time the asset is held ready for use.   

The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are: 

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate 

Computer Equipment 33.3% straight line 

Furniture and Office Equipment 10 – 33.3% straight line 

Motor Vehicles 20% straight line 
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. 

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  The gains and losses are 
included in the statement of comprehensive income. 

(j) Exploration, Evaluation  and Development Expenditure 

Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of 
interest.  Such expenditures comprise net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure but do 
not include overheads or administration expenditure not having a specific nexus with a particular area of interest.  These 
costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful development of 
the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence 
of economically recoverable reserves and active or significant operations in relation to the area are continuing. 

When a technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting a Coal Resource have been demonstrated then any 
capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is classified as capitalised mine development.  Prior to reclassification, 
capitalised exploration and evaluation expense is assessed for impairment. 

A regular review has been undertaken on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to that area of interest.  Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full 
against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made. 

Costs related to the acquisition of properties that contain Coal Resources are allocated separately to specific areas of 
interest.  These costs are capitalised until the viability of the area of interest is determined. 

The stripping costs (the process of mining over burden and water material removal) incurred before production commences 
are included within mine development expenditure and subsequently amortised.  The stripping costs subsequent to 
commencement of production are recorded as production costs. 

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest (mine development and acquired 
properties) are amortised over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable 
reserves.   

Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are included in the 
costs of that stage.  Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and building 
structure, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of mining permits.  Such costs have been 
determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 

Any changes in the estimates for the costs are accounted on a prospective basis.  In determining the costs of site restoration, 
there is uncertainty regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to community expectations and future 
legislation.  Accordingly the costs have been determined on the basis that restoration will be completed within one year of 
abandoning the site.   

(k) Accounts payable 

Accounts payable represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the year end and which are 
unpaid. These amounts are unsecured and have 7 - 30 day payment terms. They are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method due to short term nature. 

(l) Employee Benefits  

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are recognised in respect of employees' services rendered up to 
the end of the reporting period and are measured at amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities 
for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when leave is taken and measured at the actual rates paid or payable.  In 
determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may 
satisfy vesting requirements. 

(m) Provisions 

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that that an outflow of economic resources will be 
required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

(n) Issued Capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a 
deduction from the equity proceeds, net of any income tax benefit.  
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(o) Share-Based Payments 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 
employees render services in exchange for shares or options over shares ("equity-settled transactions").  

The fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase 
in equity (option reserve). The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options. Fair value is determined by an independent valuer using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model. In determining fair value, no account is taken of any performance conditions other than those 
related to the share price of Cokal Limited ("market conditions"). The cumulative expense recognised between grant date 
and vesting date is adjusted to reflect the directors’ best estimate of the number of options that will ultimately vest because 
of internal conditions of the options, such as the employees having to remain with the Group until vesting date, or such that 
employees are required to meet internal performance targets. No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately 
vest because internal conditions were not met. An expense is still recognised for options that do not ultimately vest because 
a market condition was not met. 

At each subsequent reporting date until vesting the cumulative charge to the statement of comprehensive income is the 
product of:  
• The grant date fair value of the award, 
• The current best estimate of the number of awards that will vest, taking into account such factors as the likelihood of 

employees turnover during the vesting period and the likelihood of non-market performance conditions being met and  
• The expired portion of the vesting period 

The charge to the statement of comprehensive income for the period is the cumulative amount as calculated above less the 
amounts already charged in previous periods. There is a corresponding entry to equity. 

Where the terms of options are modified, the expense continues to be recognised from grant date to vesting date as if the 
terms had never been changed. In addition, at the date of the modification, a further expense is recognised for any increase 
in fair value of the transaction as a result of the change. 

Where options are cancelled, they are treated as if vesting occurred on cancellation and any unrecognised expenses are 
taken immediately to profit or loss. However, if new options are substituted for the cancelled options and designated as a 
replacement on grant date, the combined impact of the cancellation and replacement options are treated as if they were a 
modification.   

The dilutions effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilutions in the compilations of diluted 
earnings per share. 

(p) Earnings per Share 

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of Cokal Limited by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
during the year.  

Diluted earnings per share 

Earnings used to calculate diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the amount used in determining basic 
earnings per share by the after-tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares. The 
weighted average number of shares used is adjusted for the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

(q) GST 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of GST except where GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is 
not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statements of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating 
cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 

(r) Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

Details of critical accounting estimates and judgements about the future made by management at the end of the reporting 
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period are set out below: 

(i) Key estimates – share-based payments 

The Group uses estimates to determine the fair value of equity instruments issued to directors, executives and 
employees.  Further detail of estimates used in determining the value of share-based payments is included in Note 
25.  

(ii) Key estimates – impairment 

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead 
to impairment of assets.  Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined.  
Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates.  No 
assets are considered impaired at year end. 

(iii) Key judgements – exploration and evaluation assets 

The Group performs regular reviews on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to 
carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest.  While there are certain areas of interest from which no 
reserves have been extracted, the directors are of the continued belief that such expenditure should not be written 
off since feasibility studies in such areas have not yet concluded.  Such capitalised expenditure is carried at the end 
of the reporting period at $33,306,527 (2011: 26,753,667). 

(iv) Taxation 

 The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgement as to the types of arrangements 
considered to be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost.  Judgement is also required in assessing whether 
deferred tax assets and certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet.  Deferred tax assets, 
including those arising from unrecouped tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences, are recognised only 
where it is considered more likely than not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of 
sufficient future taxable profits.  Judgements are also required about the application of income tax legislation.  
These judgements and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty, hence there is a possibility that changes in 
circumstances will alter expectations, which may impact the amount of deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities recognised on the balance sheet and the amount of other tax losses and temporary differences not yet 
recognised.  In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying amounts of recognised deferred tax assets and 
liabilities may require adjustment, resulting in a corresponding credit or change to the income statement. 

(v) Estimation of useful lives of plant and equipment 

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on estimated useful lives as published by the Australian 
Taxation Office.  In addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered against 
the remaining useful life.  Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary. 

(s) Determination and presentation of operating segments 

The Group has applied AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009.  AASB 8 requires a management approach under which 
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.  Operating segments are 
now reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), 
which has been identified by the Group Managing Director and other members of the Board of Directors. 

Operating segments that meet the qualification criteria as prescribed by AASB are reported separately.  However, an 
operating segment that does not meet the qualifications criteria is still reported separately when information about the 
segment would be useful to users of the financial statements. 

(t) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financials assets has expired or when the 
entity transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of the financial assets.  If the entity neither remains nor transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards, it derecognises the asset if it has transferred control of the asset. 

A financial liability is deregistered when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires.  When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability is substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability and the difference is the respective carrying amounts is recognised as profit or 
loss. 

(u) Foreign Currency translation 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates ruling at 
the date of transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date. The resulted gain or loss on retranslation is included as profit or loss. 
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Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate as at the date of the initial transaction.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

The foreign operating results are translated at the average rate transaction and the assets and liabilities are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing at reporting date.  Exchange variations resulting from the translation are recognised in the equity. 

(v) Operating leases 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an operating expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight 
line basis over the leave term.  Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when received and subsequently 
reduced by allocating lease payments between rental expense and reduction of the liability. 

(w) Parent entity financial information 

The financial information for the parent entity, Cokal Limited, included in note 20, has been prepared on the same basis as 
the consolidated financial statements, except as follows: 
• Investments in subsidiaries and joint rental operations 
• Investments in subsidiaries and joint venture operations are accounted for at cost.  
• Tax consolidation 

Cokal Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are in the process of implementing the tax consolidation legislation.  Cokal 
Limited will be the head entity in the tax consolidated group. These entities will be taxed as a single entity. The stand-alone 
taxpayer/separate taxpayer within a group approach has been used to allocate current income tax expense and deferred tax 
expense to wholly-owned subsidiaries that form part of the tax consolidated group. Cokal Limited has assumed all the 
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses for the tax consolidated group via 
intercompany receivables  and payables because a tax funding arrangement has been in place for the whole financial year. 
The amounts receivable/payable under tax funding arrangements are due upon notification by the head entity, which is 
issued soon after the end of each financial year. Interim funding notices may also be issued by the head entity to its wholly-
owned subsidiaries in order for the head entity to be able to pay tax instalments. These amounts are recognised as current 
intercompany receivables or payables (refer note 20). 

Note 2:  Revenue and Other Income 
      2012  2011 

     $  $ 
Revenue         

   Interest received         

- other persons      1,078,240  469,542 

  Total interest revenue      1,078,240  469,542 

Total revenue      1,078,240  469,542 

Other Income         

   Profit on sale of tenements      -  29,164 

   Foreign exchange gain      -  85,782 

   Lease incentive       46,125  - 

      46,125  114,946 

Total revenue and other income from  continuing 
operations 

 
1,124,365 

  
584,488 

 

Note 3:  Loss for the Year 
      2012 

$ 
 2011 

$ 

Loss before income tax includes the following 
specific expenses: 

        

Depreciation on plant and equipment      84,900  4,344 

Pre-tenure exploration expenses    596,209  101,321 

Salaries and wages      1,235,887  781,842 

Superannuation      57,490  30,320 

Share-based payments (options)      1,820,279  708,700 

Operating lease expense – minimum lease payment    289,215  70,335 

Interest paid     25  3 

Loss on sale of plant and equipment      -  6,772 
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Note 4:  Income Tax Expenses      
      2012 

$  2011 
$ 

The prima facie income tax on the loss is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows: 

Prima facie tax benefit (30%) on loss before 
income tax 

     
(1,894,565) 

 
(793,174) 

         
Add tax effect of:         

- Not deductible expenses      569,144  - 

- Deferred tax asset not recognised      1,325,421  793,174 

Income tax expense      -  - 

Deferred tax assets         

Deductible temporary differences      844,354  458,949 

Carry forward tax losses      2,311,254  10,655,388 

      3,155,608  11,114,337 

Deferred tax liabilities         

Assessable temporary differences      (114,608)  (8,026,100) 

Net deferred tax assets not recognised      3,041,000  3,088,237 

There are no franking credits available to shareholders of Cokal Limited. 
The carried forward tax losses and temporary differences not recognised as deferred tax assets during the year amounted to 
$7,704,180 (2011: $35,517,960) and $729,746 (2011: nil) respectively. In prior years, the exploration expenses were 
deducted upfront for tax purposes but it is no longer considered upfront deduction.  
In order to recoup carried forward losses in future periods, either the Continuity of Ownership Test (COT) or Same Business 
Test must be passed.  The majority of losses are carried forward at 30 June 2012 under COT. 
Deferred tax assets which have not been recognised as an asset, will only be obtained if: 

(i) the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the losses to be 
realised; 

(ii) the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law; and  
(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the losses 

 

Note 5:  Key Management Personnel 
(a) Key management  

personnel compensation 
2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 

Short-term employee benefits 1,915,111 937,734 

Post-employment benefits 28,790 17,352 

Share-based payments 1,472,179 659,385 

 3,416,080 1,614,471 

 

Further information regarding the identity of key management personnel and their compensation can be found in the Audited 
Remuneration Report contained in the directors' report on pages 12 to 17 of this annual report. 

 
(b)  Equity instruments 
 
Shareholdings 
Details of ordinary shares held directly, indirectly or beneficially by key management personnel and their related parties are 
as follows: 
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 Balance 
1 July 2011 

Granted as  
Remuneration 

On Exercise  
of Options 

Net Change 
Other Balance30 June 2012 

Directors      

Peter Lynch  55,000,000 - - 85,000 55,085,000 

Jim Middleton  10,000,000 - - 17,000 10,017,000 

Pat Hanna  25,000,000 - - - 25,000,000 

Domenic Martino  36,513,334 - 546,667 60,000 37,120,001 

Senior Management      

Chris Turvey  1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 

Duncan Cornish  3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 

Victor Kuss # - - - 275,000 275,000 

Total 130,513,334 - 546,667 437,000 131,479,001 

# appointed 5 September 2011 
 

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2012. 
 

 Balance 
1 July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

On 
Exercise  

of Options 

Net Change 
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2011 

Directors      

Peter Lynch # - - - 55,000,000 55,000,000 

Jim Middleton # - - - 10,000,000 10,000,000 

Pat Hanna # - - - 25,000,000 25,000,000 

Domenic Martino # - - - 36,513,334 36,513,334 

Harjinder Kehal ^ 365,686 - - (365,686) - 

Jeremy Shervington ^ 3,951,807 - - (3,951,807) - 

Bradley Abbott ^ 2,000,686 - - (2,000,686) - 

Senior Management      

Chris Turvey  - - - 1,000,000 1,000,000 

Duncan Cornish  - - - 3,000,000 3,000,000 

Total 6,318,179 - - 124,195,155 130,513,334 

^ resigned 24 December 2010 
# appointed 24 December 2010 
 

There were no shares held nominally at 30 June 2011. 
 
Options holdings 
 

 Balance 
1 July 2011 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Exercise of 
Options 

Net Change  
Other 

Balance 
30 June 2012 

Total vested at 
30 June 2012 

Total vested 
and exercisable 

at 
30 June 2012 

Total vested 
and 

unexercisable 
at 30 June 2012 

Directors         

Peter Lynch  5,500,000 - - - 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000 - 

Jim Middleton 11,000,000 - - - 11,000,000 6,000,000 6,000,000 - 

Pat Hanna  2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 

Domenic Martino  4,246,667 - 746,667 - 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 - 

Senior Management         

Chris Turvey 2,100,000 - - - 2,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 - 

Duncan Cornish 100,000 - - - 100,000 100,000 100,000 - 

Victor Kuss # - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 - - - 

Total 25,446,667 5,000,000 746,667 - 29,700,000 18,700,000 18,700,000 - 

# appointed 5 September 2011 
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 Balance 
1 July 2010 

Granted as 
Remuneration 

Exercise of 
Options 

Net Change  
Other ** 

Balance 
30 June 2011 

Total vested at 
30 June 2011 

Total vested 
and exercisable 

at 
30 June 2011 

Total vested 
and 

unexercisable 
at 30 June 2011 

Directors         

Peter Lynch # - - - 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000 5,500,000 - 

Jim Middleton # - 10,000,000 - 1,000,000 11,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 - 

Pat Hanna # - - - 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 - 

Domenic Martino # - - - 4,246,667 4,246,667 4,246,667 4,246,667 - 

Harjinder Kehal ^ 1,525,000 - - (1,525,000) - - - - 

Jeremy Shervington ^ 2,403,179 - - (2,403,179) - - - - 

Bradley Abbott ^ 1,900,000 - - (1,900,000) - - - - 

Senior Management         

Chris Turvey # - 2,000,000 - 100,000 2,100,000 100,000 100,000 - 

Duncan Cornish # - - - 100,000 100,000 100,000 100,000 - 

Total 5,828,179 12,000,000 - 7,618,488 25,446,667 13,446,667 13,446,667 - 

^ resigned 24 December 2010 
# appointed 24 December 2010 
 
(c) Advances to Key Management Personnel 
Advances to key management personnel at 30 June 2012 have been included in other receivables. The details of these 
advances are:  
 
 2012 

$ 
2011 

$ 

Jim Middleton  8,731 - 

Peter Lynch  4,632 - 

Pat Hanna  4,985 - 

 18,348 - 

 
Advances made relate to travel advances and are made in the ordinary course of business. These advances have been repaid 
in full at the date of adoption of the director’s report.  
 
(d) Other transactions and balances 
Other transactions with Key Management Personnel are set out in Note 26 (d). There were no other transactions or balances 
with Key Management Personnel during the year. 
 

Note 6:  Dividends and Franking Credits 
There were no dividends paid or recommended during the financial year (2011: Nil) 

There were no franking credits available to the shareholders of the Group (2011: Nil) 

 
Note 7:  Auditors Remuneration 
      2012 

$  2011 
$ 

Audit services      
Amounts paid/payable to Ernst & Young for audit or 
review of the financial statements for the Group 

    100,450  39,571 

         
Accounting services         
Amounts paid/payable to Ernst & Young for non-audit services 
performed for the Group 

- Assurance related agreed upon procedures 
- Tax compliance     

 
7,500 

- 
 

 
- 

15,000 

      107,950  54,571 
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Note 8:  Loss per Share 
Loss attributable to owners of Cokal Limited used to calculate basic and 
diluted loss per share 

   (6,315,217)  (2,643,913)  

 

      2012  2011 

      Number  Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic loss per share 

   376,224,489  190,183,195 

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share: 
- Options * 

    
 - 

  
- 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares 
used as the denominator in calculating diluted loss  per share 

   376,224,489  190,183,195 

Basic loss per share (cents per share)    (1.68)  (1.39) 

Diluted loss per share (cents per share)    (1.68)  (1.39) 

* options are considered anti-dilutive as the Group is loss making. 
 
Options could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future.  Refer to Note 17 for details of option granted as at 30 June 
2012. 
 

Note 9:  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 2012 

$  2011 
$ 

Cash at bank and in hand      29,628,099  17,216,696 

Cash at bank bear floating and fixed interest rates between 1% and 5.90% (2011: 5.21%).  
 

Included in the consolidated statement of cash flows as follows: 
 

 
    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

Cash and cash equivalents*      
 

29,628,099  
 

17,216,696 
Less: Deposits maturing after three months 
classified as investing activities 

      
(14,287,098) 

  
- 

      15,341,001  17,216,696 

*Included in cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2012 is an amount of $4,854,030 paid as refundable deposit on potential future acquisition 
targets. The amount is refundable to the Group of its providing 7 days’ notice as such has been recorded as cash equivalents. If the potential 
acquisition proceeds, it is anticipated at that date the amount will be reclassified as exploration and evaluation assets. The final consideration 
for these assets should they proceed is yet to be determined.  

 
 

Note 10:  Accounts Receivable 
  

    2012  2011 

    $  $ 

Current         

GST receivable      84,382  64,492 

Sundry receivables      478,015  98,347 

      562,397  162,839 

No receivables balances are past due or impaired at the end of the reporting period. 
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Note 11:  Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1. 

Name of entity 

 
Country of 

Incorporation 
Class of 
Shares 

 Percentage Owned 
(%)* 

  2012  2011 

Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd  Australia  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal Mozambique Pty Ltd  Australia  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal Holdings Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal-AAK Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal-AAM Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal-BBM Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal-BBP Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal Services Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal Karoo Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal Manda Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  100% 

Cokal-West Kalimantan Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  - 

Cokal-BPR Pte. Ltd   Singapore  Ordinary  100%  - 

Cokal Resources Limited   Tanzania   Ordinary   100%  - 

PT Cokal  Indonesia  Ordinary  100%  100% 

PT Anugerah Alam Katingan^  Indonesia  Ordinary  75%  75% 

PT Anugerah Alam Manuhing^  Indonesia  Ordinary  75%  75% 

PT Bumi Barito Mineral^  Indonesia  Ordinary  60%  50% 

PT Borneo Bara Prima ^  Indonesia  Ordinary  60%  50% 

PT Silangkop Nusa Raya^  Indonesia  Ordinary  75.2%  - 

* the proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held.     
^at reporting date, the capital of companies represents only the contributions from Cokal. Per agreement, the right of non-controlling 
shareholders’ receiving return is established only when they contribute their share of capital. 
 

Note 12:  Joint Venture Operations     
Cokal has Joint Venture (JV) operations to explore for coal in Tanzania. The JV is with private company, Tanzoz Resources 
Ltd which has been active in Tanzania since 2007, and currently holds interests in Tanzania for uranium, gold and coal. 

Name of entity 

 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Class of 
Shares 

 Percentage Owned 
(%)* 

  30 June  
2012 

 30 June  
2011 

Cokal Karoo Limited   Tanzania   Ordinary  60%  50% 

Cokal Manda Limited   Tanzania  Ordinary  50%  50% 

* the proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 
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Note 13:  Plant and Equipment 
 

      2012 
$  2011 

$ 

Computer equipment         

At cost      313,727  43,094 

Accumulated depreciation      (54,707)  (3,923) 

      259,020  39,171 

Furniture and office equipment         

At cost      573,697  401,797 

Accumulated depreciation      (34,073)  (421) 

      539,624  401,376 

Motor Vehicles         

At cost      10,590  - 

Accumulated depreciation      (464)  - 

      10,126   

Total plant and equipment      808,770  440,547 

 (a) Movements in carrying amounts         

 
2012 

 Computer 
equipment  

Furniture and 
office 

equipment 
 Motor 

Vehicles   Total 

  $  $  $  $ 

Balance at the beginning of the year  39,171  401,376  -  440,547 

Additions  270,633  171,900  10,590  453,123 

Disposals  -  -  -  - 

Depreciation expense  (50,784)  (33,652)  (464)  (84,900) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  259,020  539,624  10,126  808,770 

 
 

 
2011 

 Computer 
equipment  

Furniture and 
office 

equipment  
Motor 

Vehicles  Total 

  $  $  $  $ 

Balance at the beginning of the year  -  14,832  -  14,832 

Additions  43,094  401,737  -  444,831 

Disposals  -  (14,772)  -  (14,772) 

Depreciation expense  (3,923)  (421)  -  (4,344) 

Carrying amount at the end of the year  39,171  401,376  -  440,547 
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Note 14:  Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
      2012 

$  2011 
$ 

Non-Current         

Exploration and evaluation expenditure capitalised       

- exploration and evaluation phases      33,306,527  26,753,667 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of exploration assets is dependent on the successful development and commercial exploitation of coal, or 
alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 

(a) Movements in carrying amounts 
        

Balance at the beginning of the year      26,753,667  - 

Addition on acquisition of subsidiaries     -  10,186,576 

Other additions      7,149,069  16,567,091 

Unsuccessful exploration expenses 
derecognised 

     (596,209)  - 

Carrying amount at the end of the year      33,306,527  26,753,667 

Commitments for exploration and evaluation expenditure are disclosed in Note 21. 

 

Note 15:  Other Assets 
 
 

     2012 
$ 

 2011 
$ 

Current         

Prepayments      181,162  35,500 

Non-Current         

Security deposits      218,796  207,037 

 

 
Note 16:  Accounts Payable 
      2012 

$ 
 2011 

$ 

Current         

Sundry payables and accrued expenses       1,140,022  8,178,078 

Employee benefits      240,738  44,522 

Deferred liability *      46,125  46,125 

      1,426,885  8,268,725 

Non-Current         

Deferred liability *      276,750  322,875 

* Deferred liability represents deferred benefit on operating lease incentives. 
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Note 17:  Issued Capital 
      2012 

$  2011 
$ 

411,046,892 authorised and fully paid ordinary 
shares (2011: 338,585,735) 

      
73,003,471 

  
41,731,103 

 
The movement in Issued capital is as follows :  

 
 

    2012  2011 
     $  $ 

At the beginning of the year      41,731,103  6,210,843 

Amount received for issue of shares during the year       

- Share issue on  acquisition       -  4,217,359 

- Share issue from capital raising      28,500,000  32,000,000 

- Conversion of options to shares      2,777,231  585,286 

- Cost of share issue      (4,863)  (1,282,385) 

At reporting date       73,003,471  41,731,103 
 

 

        

 2012 
Number 

 2011 
Number 

(a) Ordinary shares         

At the beginning of the year      338,585,735  42,730,134 

Shares issued during the year         

- Share issue on  acquisition (1)     -  210,000,000 

- Share issue from capital raising (2)      -  66,666,669 

- Share issue from capital raising (3)      -  16,000,000 

- Conversion of options to shares (4)      -  3,188,932 

- Share issue on acquisition (5)      1,000,000  - 

- Share issue from capital raising (6)      17,000,000  - 

- Share issue from capital raising (7)      40,000,000   

- Conversion of options to shares (8)      14,301,157  - 

- Share issue for consultancy fees (9)      160,000  - 

At reporting date      411,046,892  338,585,735 

 
(1) On 24 December 2010, 210 million ordinary shares and 21 million options were issued as consideration for the 

acquisition of the net assets of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd.   

(2) On 24 December 2010, a capital raising of 66,666,669 ordinary shares at a price of $0.30 was completed, as part of the 
requirements for the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd.   

(3) On 19 April 2011, a private placement to institutional investors of 16,000,000 ordinary shares at a price of $0.75 was 
completed. 

(4) During the year ended 30 June 2011 3,188,932 ordinary shares were issued on conversion of options at prices varying 
between $0.10 and $0.20 each. 

(5) On 20 September 2011, the Company issued 1,000,000 ordinary shares as partial consideration for the additional 10% 
acquisition of PT. Bumi Barito Mineral and PT. Borneo Bara Prima. This amount in $ terms was included in the share 
capital at 30 June 2011.  

(6) On 23 November 2011 the Company made a non-brokered private placement of 17,000,000 shares at a price of $0.50 
to Passport Capital LLC.  

(7) The company made a non-brokered private placement of 40,000,000 at a price of $0.50 to Blackrock Global Funds 
Management. The placement was completed in two tranches. Tranche 1 representing 24,600,000 shares was 
completed on 15 December 2012 and Tranche 2 representing 15,400,000 shares was completed on 6 February 2012. 

(8) During the year ended 30 June 2012 14,301,157 ordinary shares were issued on conversion of options at prices varying 
between $0.10 and $0.30 each. 

(9) On 9 March 2012, the directors resolved to issue 160,000 fully paid ordinary shares in return for PR consulting services.  
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Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Group in proportion to the number of 
shares held.  At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each 
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

 (b) Options         

All options on issue at 30 June 2012 were as follows: 

Employees’ shares based payments: 

Number of options  Exercise price Expiry date 

2,000,000  $0.20 31 December 2012 

6,000,000  $0.50 29 December 2014 

6,000,000  $0.75 29 December 2014 

1,225,000  $0.75 12 April 2015 

550,000  $1.00 29 June 2015 

3,000,000  $1.10 5 September 2015 

2,000,000  $1.50 5 September 2015 

20,775,000    

    
For information relating to the Cokal Limited employee option plan, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed 
during the financial year and the options outstanding at year-end refer to Note 25.  
 

Other options: 

Number of 
options* 

 Exercise price Expiry date 

8,500,000   $1.00 15 May 2013 

20,780,000   $0.30 30 September 2012 

      29,280,000    
 

* Options issued to shareholders for future capital raising  

 

(c) Capital Risk Management 

      

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to provide capital growth to shareholders and ensure the Group can 
fund its operations and continue as a going concern. 

The Group capital comprises equity as shown in the Statement of Financial Position.   There are no externally imposed capital 
requirements. 

Management effectively manages the Group capital by assessing the Group financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in 
response to changes in these risks and the market.  These responses include the management share issues. 

There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the Group since the prior year. 

 
Note 18:  Reserves 

 
 

    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

Option Reserve – director, executive and 
employee options 

     2,547,998  727,719 

         

The option reserve records the value of options issued as part of capital raisings, as well as expenses relating to director, 
executive and employee share options. 
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Note 19:  Accumulated Losses 
      2012 

$  2011 
$ 

Accumulated losses attributable to 
members of Cokal Limited at beginning of 
the financial year 

   
 

 
(6,234,136)  (3,590,223) 

Loss for the year      (6,315,217)  (2,643,913) 

Accumulated losses attributable to 
members of Cokal Limited at the end of the 
financial year 

   
 

 
(12,549,353)  (6,234,136) 

 
       

Note 20:  Parent Entity Information 

The Corporations Act requirement to prepare parent entity financial statements where consolidated financial statements 
are prepared has been removed and replaced by the new regulation 2M.3.01 which requires  the following limited 
disclosure in regards to the parent entity (Cokal Limited).  The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, 
liabilities and results of the parent entity in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1. 
 

Parent Entity 
     2012  2011 

     $  $ 

Current assets      24,550,749  27,092,298 

Non-current assets       43,895,557  10,571,796 

Total assets      68,446,306  37,664,094 

Current liabilities      657,877  507,904 

Total liabilities      657,877  507,904 

Net assets      67,788,429  37,156,190 

Issued capital      73,003,471  41,731,103 

Reserves       2,547,998  727,719 

Accumulated losses     (7,763,040)  (5,302,632) 

Total shareholder’s equity      67,788,429  37,156,190 

         

Loss for the year      (2,460,408)  (1,712,410) 

         

Total comprehensive loss for the year     (2,460,408)  (1,712,410) 

         
Guarantees         
The parent entity has entered into a guarantee of financial support to the Group’s Singapore entities to meet their 
liabilities as and when they fall due.  
         
Contractual Commitments         
There were no contractual commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment entered into by the parent entity at 
30 June 2012 (2011 – nil). 
         
Contingent liabilities         
The parent entity has no contingent liabilities. 
         
Capital commitments         
The parent entity has no capital commitments. 
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Note 21:  Commitments 

 
 

    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

(a) Operating lease commitments         

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June 2012 are as follows: 
Payable         

- not later than 12 months      440,155  236,057 

- between 12 months and 5 years      1,659,309  1,387,613 

- greater than 5 years      97,421  483,024 

      2,196,885  2,106,693 

(b) Future exploration capital expenditure commitments       

The Group has certain obligations to expend minimum amounts on exploration in tenement areas.  These obligations 
may be varied from time to time and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations of the Group. 

The commitments to be undertaken are as follows:       
Payable         

- not later than 12 months      1,070,932  345,000 

- between 12 months and 5 years      1,735,917  1,020,000 

- greater than 5 years        - 

      2,806,849  1,365,000 

Queensland Coal Tenements (Australia)  

Six Queensland granted EPC’s (1649, 1650, 1652, 1660, 1664 & 1665) and two Queensland EPC applications (1648 and 
1662) were removed from the Inglewood Coal JV during the previous financial year and the Group retains a 100% interest 
in them. A review of the coal potential within EPC’s 1648 & 1660 undertaken by IMC Mining Group Pty Ltd (IMC) suggests 
that significant potential exists for coal deposits in the Evergreen formation. The annual statutory exploration 
expenditure commitments required to maintain the Group mineral exploration granted tenements are included above. 

If the minimum expenditure requirements are not met, the Group has the option to negotiate new terms or relinquish 
the tenements. The Group also has the ability to meet expenditure requirements by joint venture or farm-in agreements. 

 

Note 22:  Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
Native Title Claims – Queensland, Australia 
It is possible that native title, as defined in the Native Title Act 1993, might exist over land in which the Group has an 
interest in Queensland, Australia. It is impossible at this stage to quantify any impact the existence of native title may 
have on the operations of the Group. However, at the date of this report, the directors are aware that applications for 
native title claims have been accepted by the Native Title Tribunal over Queensland tenements held by the Group. 
 
JDC Contracts – Kalimantan, Indonesia 
The contingent liabilities in relation to the acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd (JDC).  A decision to proceed with the 
Coal Projects was made by JDC who has since acquired the interests in the entities that hold the Coal Projects under the 
JDC Contracts, and establish joint venture arrangements. JDC has further obligations to make contingent payments of up 
to US$23.0 million (30 June 2011: US$23.0 million) on the achievement of certain milestones, including the establishment 
of certain JORC Inferred Coal Resources, and on the BBM and BBP projects (total US$8.0 million), and the issuance of 
production operation IUPs (licences) on the BBM and BBP projects (total US$15.0 million). 
 
The directors are not aware of any other significant contingent liabilities or contingent assets at the date of this report. 
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Note 23:  Operating Segments 
AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports that are used by the chief operating 
decision makers (“CODM”) in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. The CODM of the 
Group are the Board of Directors.  

For management purposes, the Group is organised into three main operating segments, which involves the exploration 
of coal in Indonesia, Tanzania and Australia.  Discrete financial information is reported to the Board (Chief Operating 
Decision Maker) as three segments since acquisition of Jack Doolan Capital Pty Ltd. 

 
  Australia Indonesia Singapore Tanzania Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Segment performance for year ended 30 June 2012   

Revenue       

Other revenue  46,125 - - - 46,125 

Interest revenue  1,078,200 40 137,809 - 1,216,049 

Intersegment income*  - - (137,809) - (137,809) 

Total segment income  1,124,325 40 - - 1,124,365 

       

Depreciation expenses  77,832 7,068 - - 84,900 

Pre-tenure exploration expenses  3,357 - - 592,852 596,209 

Other expenses  3,794,933 2,606,749 197,577 159,214 6,758,473 

Total segment expenses  3,876,122 2,613,817 197,577 752,066 7,439,582 

       

Segment net loss before tax  (2,751,797) (2,613,777) (197,577) (752,066) (6,315,217) 

Segment assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2012    

Plant and equipment  548,355 260,415 - - 808,770 

Exploration and  evaluation assets  114,786 33,139,522 - 52,219 33,306,527 

Other segment assets  25,379,920 356,504 4,854,030 - 30,590,454 

Total segment assets  26,043,061 33,756,441 4,854,030 52,219 64,705,751 

       

Total segment liabilities   1,230,487 473,148 - - 1,703,635 

Capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2012     

Plant and equipment  197,937 259,530 - - 457,467 

Exploration and evaluation assets  36,636 6,941,182 - 171,251 7,149,069 
*Inter segment expense relating to the income is eliminated in other expenses, Indonesia.   
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  Australia Indonesia Singapore Tanzania Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 

Segment performance for year ended 30 June 2011     

Revenue       

Other revenue  29,164 85,782 - - 114,946 

Interest revenue  469,542 - - - 469,542 

Intersegment income  - - - - - 

Total segment income  498,706 85,782 - - 584,488 

       

Depreciation expenses  (4,245) (99) - - (4,344) 

Pre-tenure exploration expenses  (101,321) - - - (101,321) 

Other expenses  (2,737,526) (385,210) - - (3,122,736) 

Total segment expenses  (2,843,092) (385,309) - - (3,228,401) 

Segment net loss before tax  (2,344,386) (299,527) - - (2,643,913) 

Segment assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2011     

Plant and equipment  439,662 885 - - 440,547 

Exploration and  evaluation assets  78,150 26,199,878 - 475,638 26,753,666 

Other segment assets  16,250,552 1,371,521 - - 17,622,073 

Total segment assets  16,768,364 27,572,284 - 475,638 44,816,286 

Total segment liabilities   748,828 7,689,560 - 153,212 8,591,600 

Capital expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2011     

Plant and equipment  443,946 885 - - 444,831 

Exploration and evaluation assets  78,150 26,199,878 - 475,638 26,753,667 

The accounting policies applied for internal reporting purposes are consistent with those applied in the preparation of 
these financial statements. 
 

Note 24:  Cashflow Information 
 

 
    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

(a) Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash flow used in operating activities   

Loss for the year      (6,315,217)  (2,643,913) 

Depreciation      84,900  4,344 

Derecognition of capitalised exploration assets     596,209  - 

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment      -  6,772 

Gain on sale of tenements      -  (29,164) 

Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain)      340,490  (85,782) 

Share options expensed      1,820,279  708,700 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

- (Increase)/Decrease in accounts 
receivables 

      
(545,220) 

  
(313,618) 

- Increase/(Decrease) in accounts 
payables  

      
169,770  

  
337,535 

Net cash flow used in operating activities      (3,848,789)  (2,015,126) 
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Note 25:  Share-based Payments 
The following share based payment arrangements existed at 30 June 2012. 

(a) Share-based payments to directors, executives and employees      

During the year ended 30 June 2012 the following options were issued to directors, executives and employees of the 
Group: 
Key management personnel: 
• 3,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.10, on or before 5 September 2015 
• 2,000,000 unlisted options exercisable at $1.50, on or before 5 September 2015 

All of these options were issued by Cokal Limited and entitle the holder to one ordinary share in Cokal Limited for each 
option exercised.  The options were granted for nil consideration.  Once vested, options can be exercised at any time up 
to the expiry date. 
 
 2012 2011 

 No. of options Weighted average 
exercise price 

No. of options Weighted average 
exercise price * 

  $  $ 

Outstanding at beginning of year 16,825,000 0.56 5,575,000 0.17 

Granted 5,000,000 1.26 13,775,000 0.65 

Forfeited - - - - 

Exercised (1,050,000) 0.10 (2,525,000) 0.18 

Expired - - - - 

Outstanding at year-end 20,775,000 0.75 16,825,000 0.56 

Exercisable at year-end 8,000,000 0.75 3,050,000 0.17 

         
The options outstanding at 30 June 2012 had a weighted average exercise price of $0.75 and weighted average remaining 
contractual life of 3.29 years. Exercise prices range from $0.20 to $1.50 in respect of options outstanding at 30 June 2012.  

Exercise price was $0.10 in respect of options exercised during the year ended 30 June 2012. 

Pursuant to the Group’s Incentive Option Scheme, if an employee ceases to be employed by the Group then options will 
expire three months from the date employment ceases. 

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the year ended 30 June 2012 was $0.32.  This price was 
calculated by using a Black Scholes options pricing model applying the following inputs: 

  2012       
Weighted average exercise price  $1.26       
Weighted average life of the option  4 years       
Underlying share price  $0.63       
Expected share price volatility  86.89%       
Risk free interest rate  3.87%       

The expected life of the options has been taken to be the full period of time from grant date to expiry date.  The options 
pricing model assumes that options will be exercised on or immediately before the expiry date.   

The settlement method for the above options is on a 1:1 basis.  During the year ended 30 June 2012, no ordinary shares 
in Cokal Limited were issued as a result of the exercise of employee options.   

The amount included under Employee Benefits Expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2012 is $1,820,279 (2011:708,700).   

(b) Other share-based payments 

During the year ended 30 June 2012 the Group issued 8,500,000 unlisted options at $1.00 expiring 15 May 2013 as part of 
a non-brokered private placement to Passport Capital LLC.  

During the year ended 30 June 2011 the Group issued 21,000,000 $0.30 unlisted options expiring 30 September 2012 as 
part of the consideration for the acquisition of 100% of the issued share capital of JDC.  There are 20,780,000 unlisted 
options remaining as at 30 June 2012.  
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Note 26:  Related Party Transactions 
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those 
available to other parties unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Parent entity 

The parent entity and ultimate controlling entity is Cokal Limited, which is incorporated in Australia.  

(b) Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 11. 

(c) Key management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in the Remuneration Report contained in the Directors’ 
Report and in Note 5 of the Financial Statements. 

 (d) Transactions with directors and director-related entities 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, Hanna Consulting Services Pty Ltd (of which Pat Hanna is a director) 
provided to the Group geological consulting services for various exploration projects, Indonesia, including site 
management, geological staff recruitment, preparation of field base camp and geological mapping surveys.  Hanna 
Consulting Services Pty Ltd received $429,000 (2011: $82,821) for these services during the financial year. The services 
were based on normal commercial terms and conditions. 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2012, Petla Trust (of which Peter Lynch is a director) provided to the Group 
consulting services.  Petla Trust received $294,250 (2011: $100,000) for these services during the financial year. The 
services were based on normal commercial terms and conditions. 

During the year ended 30 June 2012, the Company paid consulting fees of $48,244 to PT. Pandu Wira Sejahtera of which 
Harun Abidin is a director. Harun is also a director of PT. Anugerah Alam Manuhing, PT. Anugerah Alam Katingan and PT. 
Silangkop Nusa Raya.  

Share and option transactions of directors and director-related entities are shown in Note 5 of the Financial Statements.   

Note 27:  Financial Risk Management 
(a) General objectives, policies and processes        

In common with all other businesses, the Group is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments.  This 
note describes the Group objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure 
them.  Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements. 

There have been no substantive changes in the Group’s exposure to financial instrument risks, its objectives, policies and 
processes for managing those risks or the methods used to measure them from previous periods unless otherwise stated 
in this note. 

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable, security deposits and 
accounts payable. 

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies and, 
whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that 
ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group’s finance function.  The Group’s risk 
management policies and objectives are therefore designed to minimise the potential impacts of these risks on the 
results of the Group where such impacts may be material.  

The overall objective of the Board is to set polices that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the 
Group’s competitiveness and flexibility.  Further details regarding these policies are set out below:  

(b) Credit risk       

Credit risk is the risk that the other party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge their obligation resulting in the 
Group incurring a financial loss. This usually occurs when debtors fail to settle their obligations owing to the Group.  The 
Group’s objective is to minimise the risk of loss from credit risk exposure. 

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period, without taking into account the value of 
any collateral or other security, in the event other parties fail to perform their obligations under financial instruments in 
relation to each class of recognised financial asset at reporting date, is as follows: 
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Note 

    2012  2011 

     $  $ 

Cash and cash equivalents 9     29,628,099  17,216,696 

Receivables 10     562,397  162,839 

Security deposits 15     218,796  207,037 

      30,409,292  17,586,572 

 

Credit risk is reviewed regularly by the Board and the audit committee.   

The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial 
instruments entered into by the Group.  No receivables balances were past due or impaired at year end.  The credit 
quality of receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is good.  Bank deposits are held with Macquarie Bank 
Limited, National Australia Bank Limited and Australia and New Zealand Banking Corporation Limited. 

 (c) Liquidity Risk         

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties raising funds to meet financial obligations as they fall 
due.  The object of managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meets its liabilities when they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions. 

Liquidity risk is reviewed regularly by the Board and the audit committee.  

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and liquidity ratios such as working capital.  The 
Group’s working capital, being current assets less current liabilities has increased from $9,146,310 in 2011 to $28,944,773 
in 2012. 

 Carrying 
Amount 

Contractual 
Cash flows <6 months 6 – 12 

months 1 – 3 years >3 years 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

MATURITY ANALYSIS– 2012      

Financial Liabilities       

- Accounts payable 1,703,635 1,703,635 1,380,760 46,125 184,500 92,250 

       
 Carrying 

Amount 
Contractual 
Cash flows <6 months 6 – 12 

months 1 – 3 years >3 years 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

MATURITY ANALYSIS– 2011      

Financial Liabilities       

- Accounts payable 8,591,600 8,591,600 8,237,975 30,750 123,000 199,875 

Further information regarding commitments is included in Note 21. 

(d) Market Risk         

Market risk arises from the use of interest bearing, tradable and foreign currency financial instruments.  It is the risk that 
the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates (interest 
rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price risk).  The entity does not have any 
material exposure to market risk other than as set out below. 

(i) Interest rate risk         

Interest rate risk arises principally from cash and cash equivalents.  The objective of interest rate risk management is to 
manage and control interest rate risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the return.   

Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate debt.  For further details on interest rate risk refer to 
the tables below: 
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 Floating interest 
rate 

Fixed interest 
rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Total carrying amount 
as per the statements 
of financial position 

Weighted average 
effective interest rate 

 2012 2012 2012 2012 2012 
 $ $ $ $ % 

Financial assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 2,151,753 22,622,019 4,854,327 29,628,099 5.39 

Receivables - - 562,397 562,397 - 

Security deposits 175,851 - 42,945 218,796 1.12 

Total financial assets 2,327,604 22,622,019 5,459,669 30,409,292  

Financial liabilities      

Accounts payable - - 1,703,635 1,703,635 - 

Total financial liabilities - - 1,703,635 1,703,635  

 

 (d) Market Risk (continued)         

(i) Interest rate risk (continued) 
        

 Floating interest 
rate 

Fixed interest 
rate 

Non-interest 
bearing 

Total carrying amount 
as per the statements 
of financial position 

Weighted average 
effective interest rate 

 2011 2011 2011 2011 2011 

 $ $ $ $ % 

Financial assets      

Cash and cash equivalents 2,491,747 14,724,674 275 17,216,696 4.06 

Receivables - - 162,839 162,839 - 

Security deposits 195,376 - 11,661 207,037 1.12 

Total financial assets 2,687,123 14,724,674 174,775 17,586,572  

Financial liabilities      

Accounts payable - - 8,591,600 8,591,600 - 

Total financial liabilities - - 8,591,600 8,591,600 - 

       
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk.  This sensitivity demonstrates 
the effect on the current year results and equity which could result from a change in these risks.  

At 30 June 2012 the effect on post profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other variables held 
constant, would be as follows: 

         
 Carrying Amount 

(interest bearing) 
Increase in interest rate 

by 0.5% 
Decrease in interest 

rate by 0.5%  
 $ $ $ 

2012    

Cash and cash equivalents 24,773,772 123,869 (123,869) 

Security deposits 175,851 879 (879) 

Total effect on profit  124,748 (124,748) 

2011    

Cash and cash equivalents 17,216,421 86,082 (86,082) 

Security deposits 195,376 977 (977) 

Total effect on profit  87,059 (87,059) 
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 (ii) Currency risk 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuating 
due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Group hold financial instruments which are other 
than the AUD functional currency of the Group. 

The Group is exposed to currency risk on its cash and cash equivalents held (in US dollars and Indonesian Rupiah) in 
Indonesia as well as on purchases made from suppliers in Indonesia and Tanzania. 

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk and the effect on post profit as a result of changes in foreign currency 
rates, with all other variables held constant, are as follows: 
 
  US Dollars Indonesian 

Rupiah 
Total 

  $A * $A * $A * 
2012     

Cash and cash equivalents  4,888,094 43,790 4,931,884 

Accounts payable  (13,153) (17,001) (30,154) 

Net exposure  4,874,941 26,789 4,901,730 

Effect on post profit:     

Increase by 10%  487,494 2679 490,173 

Decrease by 10%  (487,494) (2,679) (490,173) 

     
2011     

Cash and cash equivalents  1,024,876 281,448 1,306,324 

Accounts payable  (52,176) (10,333) (62,509) 

Net exposure  972,700 271,115 1,243,815 

Effect on post profit:     

Increase by 10%  97,270 27,112 124,382 

Decrease by 10%  (97,270) (27,112) (124,382) 

* expressed in Australian dollars 

(e) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities 

At 30 June 2012, the fair value of all financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair values. 

As of 1 July 2009, Cokal Limited has adopted the amendment to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which requires 
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 
(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); 
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 

prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and 
(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).  

At 30 June 2012, there are no financial instruments whose fair value was determined using the above valuation 
technique. 
 

Note 28:  Significant Events after the Reporting Date 
There have been no significant events since 30 June 2012 that require adjustments or disclosure in the financial report as 
at 30 June 2012. 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Cokal Limited 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Cokal Limited, which comprises the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information,  and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the 
company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors 
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that 
the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.  
 

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.  
 

Independence  

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001. We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independent Declaration, a 
copy of which is included in the director’s report.  

 

  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Auditor’s Opinion  

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Cokal Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 

2012 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 

and 
(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 1. 
 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the pages 12 to 17 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2012. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Cokal Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
 

 
 
Ernst Young 
 
 

 
Brad Tozer 
Partner 
Brisbane,  
19 September 2012 
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